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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  Welcome to this informational hearing of the Senate Governmental Organization Committee.  My name is Senator Dean Florez, the chairman of the committee.  I expect we will have some members coming in and out of the hearing.  

But I would like to start with the question posed in today’s informational hearing – California’s vulnerable levee system:  When and where will disaster strike?  And most of you know, late August of 2005, the devastation brought forth by Hurricane Katrina, put on the forefront, the front burner if you will, emergencies and disasters at the awareness of the public and has, of course, gotten the attention of just about every state legislature in the nation.  And today our hearing is really to figure out where we’re at.

You might know that in November 1, 2005 the state Senate convened a joint hearing to discuss whether California was prepared for major floods in the Delta.  And that hearing gave us one very clear message and that is, our aging flood protection infrastructure has some major design deficiencies and there was some need for some sound flood protection policies.  And now more than ever, we have that opportunity today to talk about what will happen if there is a levee failure.  That hearing also revealed that a levee catastrophe could jeopardize water supplies for cities and farms across two-thirds of the entire state of California. 

And if I could, I’d like to just give you an update.  Most of you know this, but in terms of the past six months what has transpired, given the events I’ve mentioned earlier, first and foremost I do want to thank Governor Schwarzenegger and Senator Feinstein for leading a congressional delegation on an aerial tour of the levee system itself.  The governor obviously then declared a state of an emergency relative to the levee system.  
The Army Corps of Engineers identified 29 critical erosion sites in the Sacramento Valley and Delta region.  And then the governor directed the Department of Water Resources to repair these particular erosion sites.  And the governor also identified resources to fund the emergency work and to complete it before the next flood season.
As most of you know, winter and spring storms have filled our reservoir and rivers, further eroding our levees and threatening lives and property.  We’re very happy to say that there was an agreement between the Schwarzenegger administration and the Bush administration that finalized this MOU, if you will, on May 1st, that provided an expedited permitting process to allow the state to fix these 29 critical levee sites this year (and I believe June 21st is the target date within the MOU).  And on May 5th the Legislature approved a $3 billion plus flood protection bond that will be placed on this November’s ballot that will provide at least $2 billion for levee inspection, repair, flood control improvements, and Delta levee protections, and $500 million for flood control subventions, and an additional $290 million for flood corridors, bypasses, and floodplain mapping, and lastly, about $300 million for storm flood management.

The purpose of today’s hearing as I’ve mentioned, is to gather as much information as possible so we can assure Californians that we have assessed both short-term and long-term challenges and that we’re well prepared, hopefully, to meet those challenges.

As most of you know, California has a very good reputation for being well prepared for large-scale disasters and emergencies.  I think today’s hearing gives us the opportunity to look at public safety, and for economic reasons as well, give us our fullest attention on the demands associated with flood management.

I do want to thank the panelists that we’ve assembled today.  I think we’ll have a better understanding of the condition of levees, the respective roles and responsibilities in preparing for and against, in many cases, these types of events.  And we are interested in listening to specific proposals for increased spending.
I do want to thank Senator Soto, as usual, for being here on the GO Committee, and I know that she always has insightful questions.  And we look forward to having other members and ask questions as well.

Given that, I’d like to begin and ask Senator Soto if she has some comments.

SENATOR NELL SOTO:  Well, I want to say thank you for holding this hearing on the levee system.  Protecting the Delta water system is of great interest to all Californians.  I believe Californians need to hear more on how the whole state is dependent on successful water transfer to survive, especially in the Inland Empire, as you know.

I want to take examples of the best mitigation practices back to my area in the Inland Empire and Pomona.  We face challenges from the large runoff that comes off the San Gabriel and San Bernardino Mountains, at least through flooding and mudslides.  This area is also in need of improved flood protection.

I look forward to working with you on this and let’s move on.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you Senator Soto.  I think it should be a good hearing.  We look forward to hearing where we’re at.

And the first panel we have is on the conditions of our levees both short and long-term objectives.  We have Les Harder, Deputy Director, Department of Water Resources; Brandon Muncy, Chief of Civil Programs Division, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; Dante Nomellini, attorney from the Central Delta Water Agency; Stein Buer, Executive Director, Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency; and John Cain, Director of Natural Heritage Institute Restoration Programs.  And I think we’ll start with Mr. Harder, if that’s possible, who is the deputy director, as I mentioned, for the Department of Water Resources.  Thank you, gentlemen, for joining us.  Senator Vincent, thanks for joining us.

LES HARDER:  Good morning.  I am Les Harder.  I’m deputy director for Public Safety and Business Resources for the Department of Water Resources.  Mr. Chairman, I’m happy to be here to give you an overview of the condition of the levees and where we’re at.
I would like to take you through a handout that we’ve brought here.  Turning to the second page, California’s flood crisis is oriented toward two main issues.  One is, the federal project levees that provide protection to many urban areas just are not up to the level of protection that’s needed for such protection.  And so we have many communities in the Central Valley and other parts of California that are vulnerable.  The other part is the vulnerability of the levees in the Delta system, Sacramento and San Joaquin Delta, which protect California’s water supply.  So I’m going to take you through this handout which orients it a little bit more.
To build on the Chairman’s comments, on page-3 is the summary of the system in the Central Valley—1,600 miles of federal project levees that were turned over to the state of California.  In addition, there are 700 miles of local Delta levees—altogether, 2,300 miles of levees of statewide concern in the Central Valley.  These are old systems; many of them constructed over 100 years ago; many of them originally built by farmers; some of them are still maintained by farmers today.  Most of them were constructed without adequate engineering and they were using materials and constructed with methods that we would reject as inadequate today, but it’s the legacy we have.

Also, on top of that, this system is old and aging.  It’s deteriorating.  It’s literally washing away in some places by erosion.  There is seepage due to stress, and everything from burrowing animals to cracking and settlement, making this system not completely reliable when it was finished, and it’s getting less and less reliable with time.

On page-4 is a plot prepared by the Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency comparing Sacramento’s level of protection to other cities across the U.S.  Other river cities seek to have 300 to 500 years level of protection.  Sacramento is hovering around 100.  Many areas in Sacramento have less than 100-year protection.  
And for comparison, if we just go to the third bar, New Orleans was rated previously to Katrina as having 250-year protection.  So Sacramento by far has the lowest level of protection of any city in the United States today.
Page-5 is a reminder of what urban flooding could do.  We saw that in Katrina.  Sacramento has the exact same problem.  It actually has lower levels of protection. 

The chart on the left on page-5 shows areas of potential flooding for a flood scenario that we developed for a 200-year event.  The area that’s colored in orange, means that the depth of flooding is greater than six feet.  The area in yellow is greater than 15 feet.  In some areas we actually have depths of flooding up to 20 to 25 feet.  The deeper areas that we show here cover the Natomas area, the Pocket area, and portions of downtown, and this is not the worst scenario we can come up with.  You would end up in such an event, having the flooding that is shown in the photograph here that’s actually from New Orleans, you would have the exact same kinds of tragedies here as you saw back there.

Page-6—part of the problems that we have is that the river system is designed to erode, and it is eroding our levees and the banks away.  And the Chairman made reference to the 24, and now 29, critical erosion sites in the Sacramento Valley that need urgent repair.  Those locations are on the chart to the right on page-6.  The yellow and the red dots represent critical erosion sites.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the yellow dots, are those in reference to what the governor is looking at in his 29 projects, or are they a combination, or are there others?
DR. HARDER:  The yellow and the red dots together add up to 29.  The red ones are the ones that the Corps of Engineers is going to be fixing because the state is advancing money to them as part of the agreement that you mentioned earlier.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

DR. HARDER:  So the Corps has graciously accepted the funding we’re going to advance them.  They will fix 10 of the sites.  The Department of Water Resources will be fixing 19 of the sites.

On page-7, a reminder of the kind of erosion we have, the governor declaring a State of Emergency, as the Chairman referenced, and the overall schedule we have for fixing these sites.  So there’s quite a bit of work in May and June involving permitting, planning, and design.  We are advertising several of the construction contracts this month.  We expect to actually begin work on at least one contract in June and other contracts in July, and the work will carry on through to November.

Page-8—is a reminder of the system’s fragility.  We don’t normally have flood events in April, but in April of this year we had extended high water because we had a very wet season.  This was particularly noticed and experienced in the San Joaquin Valley.

Page-9—the dots on the river system here represent areas of distress in April that were experienced.  And we had two general areas on the San Joaquin.  The Upper San Joaquin near Mendota/Firebaugh area had numerous levee incidents.  And also the lower San Joaquin near Manteca and Tracy also had several events.

Under the governor’s direction we actually have done much more advanced measures during this flood event.

The next slide is the view of the situation that caused this.  Basically, all the reservoirs were full.  On page-10 is an aerial photograph of Friant Dam absolutely full and discharging water through its outlet, which is keeping the water in the river system high.
Page-11—are some of the incidents that we responded to.  At the time that I prepared this slide, a couple of weeks ago we had 45 incidents responding to levee distress.  Since then we’ve had more on the San Joaquin because as recently as last week we had a flood fight on the Chowchilla Bypass above Firebaugh due to seepage distress (boils) and we had to do emergency repair in the middle of the night there.

Page-12—are some of the kinds of advanced measures we’ve taken this season.  The upper left photograph is a seepage berm.  We’ve now placed about two miles of those berms on the San Joaquin system both on the Chowchilla Bypass and on the San Joaquin River.  We also armored many of the areas that were eroding away with rock, and also protected various levees with _______ and sandbags.  

Page-13—is a plot of the flood control system near Firebaugh.  There is a small bypass that was created years ago—that’s the pink lines here above Firebaugh.  Those bypasses are very small compared to the Sacramento/Yolo Bypass you see here, and they do provide protection but they are limited in size.  They were flowing as much as 40 percent over their designed capacity in this recent event.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this is near Firebaugh?

DR. HARDER:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And explain to me, I don’t want to interrupt as you move through this, but this particular bypass….is it a bypass, or what are we looking at here?

DR. HARDER:  Well, on the plot on page-13 is a map and you see the blue line which is the San Joaquin River, and then you also see a set of pink lines above the San Joaquin River.  The pink lines are a bypass to divert excess flow away from the communities along the river.  And that is part of the actual flood control system project; levees are on the bypass itself—the pink lines.  So water goes down the river and also goes into the bypass.  Both the river system and the bypass were both exceeding their design capacities.  And so we had levee problems, flood problems on both the river system and on the bypass system.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

DR. HARDER:  And just as a reminder, the level of flood event that we were facing here was only about a 10-year event—a pretty small event.  But the rickety nature of this system pretty much demonstrated itself.
We spent about $9 million in advanced measures in this one month just to try and hold the system together.  

Page-14—I’ll touch on the Delta.  The Chairman did a good job of summarizing some of the issues.  We know that the Delta is the drainage for the Central Valley.  It’s where the San Joaquin and Sacramento Rivers meet before the water flows into the bay.

Page-15, is a plot of the legal limits of the Delta.  Technically, the legal limits start in Sacramento, go down past Stockton, wraps around to the west to Tracy, and goes out to Antioch.  A triangular area; 700,000 acres in size; much of it is lowland area; 60 islands and tracts; over 1,100 miles of levees protect those lowlands from flooding.

Page-16—there are many critical areas of infrastructure in the Delta or around the Delta.  Those involve three state highways, a railroad system, gas lines, power lines.  But by far, the most important infrastructure is the water export.  Water export from the Delta is basically….this is California’s water supply—drinking water to two-thirds of California’s residents, at least some of it comes from the Delta every day.  The water exports directly support $400 billion of the state’s economy.

Page-17—is a reminder of what we have in the Delta.  The lowlands here, 140 years ago, started out at sea level and then with time, because of agricultural practices, the soils, which are organic in nature, chemically broke down and blew away and then the surface of the soil declined and subsided, so many of these islands are commonly 15 feet below sea level now.  And the dikes that originally started out 140 years ago as pretty small, now are very large structures—commonly 20 to 25 feet high.  And they are holding back water every day.  They are fulltime levees.  Most of the levees in the system in the Central Valley are only part-time workers.  They only hold back water during flood events.  Like right now, for instance, in Sacramento they’re high and dry.  But in the Delta they are holding back water every day—24 hours a day because the land itself is below sea level.
Page-18—is a reminder of the kinds of risks to levee integrity.  Levees could be overtopped, high winds and waves could eat them away.  Levees often have seepage problems because the foundations are often pervious, so you have boils through under seepage, and many of them sometimes fail and we just don’t know why they fail.  They just are not reliable.

Page-19—one of the things we worry about in the Delta is that we’ve had 140, 150 levee failures in the last 100 years.  Typically one or two at a time and we can address one or two at a time.  What we would be worried about is if we got 15 of them at the same time.  So the kind of event that could do that would obviously be a large flood, but another event would be a large earthquake near the Delta.  And the Chairman touched on this issue.
Page-19 shows levee like structures across the world that have failed during earthquakes, and these types of structures don’t perform well during strong shaking.  And we don’t anticipate Delta levees to do any better than some of these failures.

Page-20—is the beginning of an earthquake scenario that the Chairman touched on.  We prepared last fall for another committee hearing, we postulated the effects of a 6.5 magnitude earthquake near the Delta.  Such an event would be expected to result in 30 levee breaches and the flooding of over 16 islands.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How many islands?

DR. HARDER:  Sixteen.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sixteen.

DR. HARDER:  And on page-20, the islands that we assumed in this scenario are shown in light blue.

Page-21—when you fail these islands, you draw in a lot of water to fill them because they’re thousands of acres, and they’re 10 to 20 feet deep, and you need a lot of water to fill them.  Where that water comes from, if you had a large event like this, water would come from the bay.  And so the bay water would flow into the Delta, flow backwards upstream, and you would actually bring salt water into the Delta.  And if you did this, then the water would become too salty to export and you would actually shutdown all the water export for the Delta in such an event.

Page-22—we’ve looked at that kind of scenario in terms of recovery and we think there’s a good chance that the Delta would not recover from that.  We would not be able to reclaim the islands faster than they would be washed away.  And so even under this scenario, after a year of efforts, we might only be able to recover 7 of the islands.  And to restore some water supply we would basically use rock barriers to re-plumb or reroute portions of the San Joaquin River to deliver lower amounts of lesser quality water.  That would have long-term big impacts to the state’s economy.  We would also have impacts to traffic in and around the Bay/Delta region.  And also, there would be unknown impacts to the Delta’s ecology.
Our economists thought that it would result, at least, in $30 to 
$40 billion in the first five years.  They used the same kind of techniques that were predicted for New Orleans, which tend to underestimate by a factor of 5 to 10, so this $30/$40 billion is probably way too low.

Page-23—this is sort of a back of the envelope conceptual estimate on kinds of levels of costs that will be needed to raise the flood protection throughout California, not to make it flood proof, but just to raise it to an adequate level.  

So, for the 1,600 miles of project levees in the Central Valley, to return them to their original design capacity, what they should function at—which is actually just a moderate level of protection—that’s probably $1 to $1.5 billion.  Now, that level of protection is the original design level the Corps provided for the system.  In many areas, that’s only a 30, 50, or 80-year level of protection just depending on where you are in the Central Valley.  That’s not enough for urban areas.  We seek much higher than 100-year, we’re moving toward 200 and above.  So to upgrade urban areas which will need higher levels of protection, in the Central Valley you’re talking about another $1 to $1.5 billion for that.

And then the overall system, portions of it need to be redesigned so that it doesn’t erode away like it is now; part of it is for environmental restoration and the ability to maintain.  And from the comprehensive studies, interim work, we estimated from $2 to $4 billion for that.  And those are just for the project levees in the Central Valley.  In order to make some of the most critical Delta levees resistant to flood and seismic events, we think we’re probably looking at $3 to $5 billion there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you a question from this chart.  So these are additives.  So in other words, this is not cumulative, this is additive—$5 billion to make critical, $4 billion for reconstruction, $1.5 billion for flood upgrades, and $1.5 billion for the 1,600 miles of projects you mentioned earlier, to cover about 60 islands, is that correct?

DR. HARDER:  Right.  We think, including the areas outside the Central Valley, we’re looking at roughly a $12 billion need for flood control in California.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So before we go patting ourselves on the back with $3 billion, putting it on the November ballot, you’re saying that it’s four times short?

DR. HARDER:  Well, I’ll talk a little bit about that in future slides, but we think roughly to raise it to an appropriate level you’re looking at a 20 to 25-year effort, and the bond measure and other measures are probably….along with cost sharing from the federal government and local cost sharing, is good for the first half of that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  First half.  Okay.

DR. HARDER:  I do want to touch on the initiatives that California has been doing, both the administration and in the Legislature.  
Page-24—includes reminders that we came out with a “white paper” on the flood crisis here in California, in January of 2005.  That was eight months ahead of Katrina.  The governor declared, as the Chairman mentioned, a State of Emergency for 24 critical erosion sites, and they’re now up to 29.
Page-25—we’ve described the Delta disaster scenario which we touched on here.  We are developing a Delta Risk Management Strategy in partnership with the Corps of Engineers and California Department of Fish and Game, to better identify the risks and potential impacts of levee failures to the Delta and to develop risk reductions strategies.  And interim products of that are due later this year, and a final report is due in 2007.

The Department and other agencies are working to develop a long-term strategic Delta vision, and that final report is due in January 2008, along with satisfying the requirements of AB 1200.

Page-26—touches on some of the work that we’re doing and requests we’ve made of our federal partners.  We have developed, as the Chairman mentioned, a list of work, and we are funding the Corps of Engineers to do 10 of the sites.  We have gotten an MOU for expedited environmental permitting which will give us permits by June 21st.  We still need further work on the processes to get federal credits for all of the money that the state has advanced and will be advancing.  

We need to work more with our federal partners for a Delta emergency response plan.  And statewide, we’re going to be needing the federal government to continue its involvement in cost sharing.  As California uses the bond funds and other funds in advance of federal action, we’ll be needing to work with our partners for both crediting and appropriate processes.
Page-27—it talks about some of the funding potentials.  The first bullet talks about what the administration is doing for the state budget with flood management.  Our state forces received a 70 percent increase in fiscal year 2005/2006, which is the one we’re in now.  And the proposal is to increase it by another 70 percent for the next year.

There is a proposed General Obligation Bond for the repairs of federal and state flood control facilities.  The bond measure actually proposes $4.1 billion over 10 years—$3 billion would go to project levees and the Delta in the Central Valley, $500 million would pay for state subventions, $300 million is for storm water, and $290 million is for a floodway corridor, bypasses, and mapping funds.  All together, 
$4.1 billion.

The Legislature has also passed AB 142 which would provide 
$500 million for emergency work right now on levee evaluations, repairs, and flood control system improvement.

And finally on some flood management initiatives, some legislation for flood control reform, the administration has participated with John Laird on AB 1665 and Mr. Harmon on ACA 13.  This would do several things, particularly in AB 1665:

· There would be an assessment of local agencies for levee maintenance.  

· There would be an update of the State Plan of Flood Control; preparation of status report of project levees
· There would also be reports of local activities on the maintenance that local agencies perform on project levees

· There would be improved mapping and better information of potential flood inundation zones (annually, every owner of property who lives behind a levee would be notified of their potential risk).  

· And there would also be state abatement of poorly maintained project levees.  

· And the flexibility for local agencies to raise funds.

So that concludes my overview, and I appreciate the opportunity to build on the Chairman’s opening remarks.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Very thorough.  Appreciate that.  I have some questions for the panel, but unless any of the members have questions for Mr. Harder, we’ll go to Mr. Muncy.

BRANDON MUNCY:  Mr. Chairman and distinguished members of the committee, I’m Brandon Muncy, the chief of the Civil Programs Branch in the Sacramento District Corps of Engineers.  I’m here representing Colonel Ron Light, who is not here today.  I appreciate the opportunity to be here and to speak with you.  I do want to commend 
Dr. Harder on his presentation and wholeheartedly agree with the state’s assessment of what the conditions are of these levees.  
I just want to make a few small comments.  

There is a short-term action, as you talked about, Mr. Chairman, and long-term solutions, that are both essential to address the conditions of these levees.  You know, we feel like we are part of a team of federal, state, and local agencies and partners who have the ability, if given the right resources, to come up with a solution that can at least reduce the risk of flood damages in this state.

Just as a review, the Corps has been a partner with this state for over 100 years.  As we’ve dealt with navigation and flood damage reduction, we provided billions of dollars through the years.  And the system as it is now has always been a challenge in trying to get the type of reduction, flood damage reduction, that it needs to be.

As this state has grown and the desire for flood protection has developed over the years, the Corps of Engineers has been a valuable asset in assisting the state in resolving these water resource issues.  

Now, the state has changed from a rural, mostly agricultural state with medium sized cities along the rivers, to a much more urbanized state with complex water resource issues.  We do recognize what 
Dr. Harter said about the condition of the levees.  Maintenance is a big challenge.  It is normally the responsibility of the state and local agencies to do that maintenance.  And we agree that that maintenance has been lacking over the last few years.  And we also recognize that these levees are also not engineered levees.  They were incorporated into the system and handed over to the Corps of Engineers and to the federal government as Congress did that around the turn of the century, and we’ve been dealing with these levees for quite some time.

As it relates to the short-term solutions, I just want to echo that we are a critical part of helping address the 29 critical erosion sites as 
Dr. Harder talked about.  
I want to let you know that the report that we conducted last year identified actually 174 sites along that river, just the Sacramento River alone, that needed some attention, and only 29 of those sites were what we call critical sites.  So even though we’re focused on those 29 critical sites, there’s still a lot more work that needs to be done, in our opinion, to bring these levees up to the proper maintenance that has been deferred for so many years.
The other point I want to make is, that it was eluded to that a lot of farmers and these reclamation districts have limited ability to fund the proper maintenance that needs to be there, and it looks to us that there isn’t a real adequate mechanism the state has to address maintenance that’s needed to be done.  The Corps only has one authority right now dealing with maintenance and that’s the Sacramento Bank Protection Project, and we get money each year.  It varies from very little to maybe $10 or $15 million depending on what Congress decides, and then we go out and try to repair the most critical sites or whatever, and we work with the state.  However, as this report that we talked about earlier, there’s a lot of sites out there that get ignored because of the lack of funds.

SENATOR SOTO:  It must be tough.
MR. MUNCY:  Yes, it’s tough.  Long-term solutions:  A lot of hard decisions have to be made.  The Corps, in 2002, completed a comprehensive study outlining a bunch of measures that could potentially be taken to help the long-term solution:  setting back levees, temporary and permanent storage facilities, ecosystem restoration, were some of those measures.  And it’s just a matter of what does the state really want to do, because we look at it as a local issue as a lead as to what really should be done with these levees and what kind of protection really should be given to the state in the different areas that they have?
Dr. Harder also talked about how the Corps and FEMA are looking at reassessing the floodplain maps in this state and throughout the country, and we realize that the maps are old and relying on old geotech data and other things.  And when we do this assessment, we’re going to find that a lot more people are in a threatened condition.  We know they are.  We’ll have that documentation, and I think a lot of people will realize just what the real threat is that exists today.

I do want to express my appreciation to the state.  I think we have a good partnership with them.  We have a partnership with local sponsors like, SAFCA and others, as we work to try to reduce the risk of flood protection.  

The point I also want to make is, the flood risk will never go away.  There’s always going to be a risk to flood.  As we saw in New Orleans, I would think that a lot of people thought they were safe in New Orleans, thinking that they had 250-year level protection and we found out they weren’t as safe as they thought they were.  So the question is, what kind of a level of protection do we really want to have in this state, and then we can move forward and try to meet that standard.

SENATOR SOTO:  Can I ask a question about Prado Dam?  What kind of protection does it have?  Because if anything would happen, that would go right straight down into my district.
MR. MUNCY:  What’s great about Prado Dam, it’s in another district, so I don’t know.  I can get that answer for you.  But we do do an extensive evaluation of dams and make sure that they’re safe.  They do provide certain levels of protection.  But once again, like I said, it just reduces that level of protection.  You know, if we get a large enough storm, water could spill over that.

SENATOR SOTO:  Right now it’s holding back so much water that you can only see about maybe two or three feet of the trees, and it’s way back like about a mile, two miles back into the…
DR. HARDER:  Can I take a stab at answering that question?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask a question.  Is it safe to say that Senator Soto’s concern….and I have Lake Isabella in my district as well, and I’m sure we can all point to various projects.  I mean, is it safe to say that our locals, at least the emergency preparedness plans may not match in terms of what would happen if; or are they outdated; or are they updated all the time?  I think Senator Soto mentions one is the construction project, specifically, but also from this committee’s perspective which we’re concerned with, emergency preparedness, are those types of projects also within the scope of getting the locals up to speed on their own plans and getting them up to date?  I think that’s one of the questions I have as a follow up, Senator Soto.
SENATOR SOTO:  Well, it is disturbing to see as you drive along the side of the Prado Dam, you see where the levee is holding it back.  But you can go two miles and you’ll only see the tops of the trees where the water spreads all the way back.  If something were to happen there, that neighborhood in front of it would be gone.

MR. MUNCY:  That’s correct.  Those dams only provide a certain level of protection.  They’ve done their jobs so far here, but we could have a higher event that could cause catastrophic problems.  And I think we probably could do a little bit better job of communicating with the public about what their real level of protection is.  I still think there is a perception that “Oh, I’ve got this damn.  I’m protected.  I’m safe.”  

SENATOR SOTO:  You’re right.  I think there should be a little bit more education to the community.  They’re right beneath it; that you only go about a mile and there you have this big community there—Norco and Corona.
MR. MUNCY:  The Corps also has a very active role in assessing all of the core dams and looking at the dam safety.  We want to make sure that that dam is safe and those type of things, and if it isn’t, we inform the public that we do have some concerns and we deal with those type of issues.

DR. HARDER:  Maybe I can add just a little bit.  Prado Dam is part of the Santa Ana River Project.  The state of California actually helps fund that project in arrears under the state subventions program.  Overall, that project is roughly a $4.1 billion project that included Seven Oaks Dam, which is a new dam, and also modifications to Prado, and also modification along the flood control system.

In this state, federal dams and state dams, under the jurisdiction of the Division of Safety Dams, are intended to be extremely safe themselves so that they would not fail during a maximum credible flood event or earthquake.  However, to maintain their safety, they often have to release water to keep the water from overtopping the dam itself, and that’s true here in Folsom.  So the dam itself is quite safe, but it’s releasing enough water that the system below it can’t handle it.  So that’s one of the issues for Sacramento along the American River.  And, for the Santa Ana project, when it’s completed, depending on where you are on the system, it will have somewhere between 100 to 190-year protection along the river system, but the dam itself has a much higher level of protection.  I hope that helps a little bit.

SENATOR SOTO:  It’s kind of scary when you look at it.

MR. MUNCY:  That’s all I have, Sir.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I do have some questions for the panel so let’s move on.
Okay, Dante.

DANTE NOMELLINI:  Dante Nomellini.  I’m an attorney for the Central Delta Water Agency.  I also work for a number of reclamation districts along the San Joaquin River and in the Delta.  I’ve spent a good number of years involved in the flood issues and the water issues.  The water issues is where we met last.

First of all, I would like to emphasize the point that no matter what we do with this system, we are simply dealing with management of the risk whether it be a 50-year, 10-year protection, 100-year protection, 200-year protection.  We’re not talking about absolute protection under any circumstances, and therefore, we have a vulnerability, and we have a vulnerability in all our structures, whether they be dams, pipelines, bridges, whatever, there’s a certain level of vulnerability that will exist.
Short-term:  I think we have to be careful that we don’t throw the baby out with the bath water in a knee-jerk reaction.  I think it’s good that we’ve had the lesson of Katrina.  It’s sad that we suffered the damage nationally, but it’s awakened us to the vulnerability of our systems and the need to have a better emergency response preparation.

In terms of what we can do short-term for the Delta lowlands that we’re talking about….and of course the Delta extends from West Sacramento and includes Tracy and everything else, so when we talk about the Delta, we should distinguish those western most islands, or the central and western Delta islands, from the others because we have much of this area of the Delta that’s urbanized and protected with urban levees.  
The typical system out there that’s available to us is going to be vulnerable to flooding just like others, perhaps greater, but I can’t tell you that.  The current flood event that was on the San Joaquin River, our flooding that was over there, the Delta levees withstood the system, the flood, fairly well.
We support the continuation of the Delta Levee Subvention Program.  I think the Legislature recognized that.  That’s a cost sharing program with local districts.  We think that’s the cornerstone of keeping things going and holding it together. 

While we can’t deny that an earthquake in the western Delta, the magnitude that’s projected by the Department of Water Resources, cannot occur, we don’t think that that is necessarily the basis for planning.  If you take that same magnitude of earthquake and apply it anywhere in the system, you wouldn’t have a pumping plant to pump water to Southern California.  You certainly wouldn’t have any pipelines.  You wouldn’t have any aqueducts.  You may not have the city of Los Angeles.  So, we have to keep it in perspective and keep working.

What’s happened over the years, is that the federal government, including the Corps of Engineers, have retreated from the flood arena.  When I started out as a fledgling lawyer, it was the Corps of Engineers, it was the military part with their civilians that led the charge on floods.  They were repairing levee breaks whether it be a project levee, or some farmer’s levees.  And most of the levees in the Delta are reclamation district levees.  They’re called private levees, but there are government agencies that are in charge.  We do have private levees up and down the river systems on these various farms.  The Corps was there and led the charge.

FEMA came along.  When they organized FEMA, FEMA would come in.  If it was a significant enough disaster, they would provide 100 percent funding.  They would task the Corps, the local agencies that couldn’t do the job, they tell the Corps, “Go do it.  We’ll pay the bill.”  That’s all changed now.  The magnitude of the changes aren’t even clear to me, because I stopped following it.  After every major disaster there was a retreat.  And now we have this questionable role for FEMA, and you can see it in Katrina, hopefully it will get straightened out, and I think they’re working on it.  But you know, who is in charge?  I think they didn’t even know who was in charge in the situation, and that’s because of this erosion that’s taken place.
The way the system is set up now, we need, at the state level, to have a clear designation of authority to a state agency to go and flood fight, and not pussyfoot around and argue about policy and go flood fight.  If the Department of Water Resources doesn’t want to do it, then we need, like, the Forest Service, or Department of Forestry, they fight fires, get them to go fight the floods.  But we have to have a clear charge, and it can’t be run by the Department of Finance.  You can’t fight a flood or terrorists or an earthquake or a fire and be worried about your expenditure.  We have to audit.  We have to have rules.  But you can’t let that type of a situation develop.  
And many of us in this room were involved in the Jones Tract flood.  If it wasn’t for the governor interceding, the bureaucracy would have failed.  The bureaucracy would have sat there and waited.  The levee break would not have been closed.  The water wouldn’t have been pumped out.  And that flood would have marched—it would have expanded.  We could have lost Highway 4.  We could have had other failures.  So we need to make sure that the Legislature and the governor have given clear direction to the bureaucracy to respond.

I think if the state takes strong leadership, the Corps will follow.  We’ll have to drag them back into the business.  They’ve been sitting on the sidelines.  They have a role to play.  They have the skill.  But you heard the testimony, they don’t have the funding.  The funding will follow if the state leads.

We have to do other things that are kind of simple.  Make a clear declaration that flood control structures and channels are for the primary purpose of flood control.  You don’t go put buildings on them.  You don’t put these other encroachments on there.  You let all that stuff be secondary.  

New development—set it back from the levees.  You heard the talk about changing the standard.  FEMA set a 100-year frequency flood as the standard—100-year protection.  You hear the state talking about 200-year protection.  You’re going to throw everything into chaos.  And, I don’t know how you do it.  And there’s been this movement to try and shift liability onto local government.  If you think the cities can pick up that burden and let the state ride free, it isn’t going work.  You’re going to collapse your cities and you’re not going to accomplish the task.  So we have to try and work our way through these recommendations that have come out and get everybody cooperating together.  Get the cities to pull in the same direction.  You can’t collapse development for the cities.  The cities are all living off of development fees.  Rightfully or wrongfully, they’re all living off of these development fees that come from the housing developments, so you have to figure out how to integrate that with the state.  Not trying to shift liability, but try and get the job done that you want done without collapsing the system.
There are other things….

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do you both of those?  I mean, I’m sorry to interrupt you, but how do you do both of those?

MR. NOMELLINI:  Pardon me?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do you accomplish what you’ve just said?

MR. NOMELLINI:  Well, I think we….

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You have cities that say we need the development in order to raise the dollars in order to protect and get things quicker and faster, and at the same time the governor puts together a board that isn’t necessarily moving in the same direction as you’ve mentioned (my opinion only) and so you don’t have a, if you will, coherent thought process.  We don’t have a flood fighting team.  In fact, I’m not sure most Californians know what the Board of Reclamation does or is.  I’m not sure if we shouldn’t call it the Central Valley Flood Protection Agency, which I have a bill on this year, so it would make it much clearer.  I mean, I’m just trying to figure out how we do all that.

MR. NOMELLINI:  Well, that’s why you’re holding this hearing.  Hopefully, out of this will come recommendations.  But in terms of development, we have floodplains that don’t have development in them yet.  The Reclamation Board has been tasked with the duty to establish the designated floodplains and they also approve every levee system.  Before there’s a levee system that’s put in place whether it be a reclamation district, or a flood control district, that plan has to be approved.  Now they approved a lot of these things back in the 1900s and all this and that.  We’ve got what we’ve got.  But there are areas—let’s pick one—south of Sacramento, many of you drive on I-5.  You see that floodplain out there, that’s the floodplain of the Consumnes and the Mokelumne coupled in with the Morrison Creek discharges.  That floodplain doesn’t have levee systems in it.  The Reclamation Board should say “No more new levee systems encroaching in that area.”  That’s one thing.  I’m not familiar with the entire state, but I am familiar with that and I see the flood waters in it.  That task can be done.  No new urban development in that floodplain.
Now we have areas that are already partially developed that have levee systems around them that have been approved.  You have to be careful there.  You want to get the flood protection that you want for the people that are already there.  

Does a moratorium on development help you do that, or does it hurt you?  If you can get the contribution, set the development back from the levees, because there’s no reason to have a house up against the levee and try to go in there and flood fight.  You tear up the yard.  The guy wants to shoot you.  It’s a terrible disruption to the people.  It’s just crazy to let this thing happen.  
We don’t even know what Mother Nature is going to give us in the future.  When we talk about 100-year protection, 500-year protection, or 200, we’re looking at historical hydrology.  The earth has gone through, what, six ice ages in a million years.  Changes could come so we should be prudent.  Set back new development.  We don’t have to go out there today and start smashing houses.  But don’t put the new ones, put the greenbelts near the levees.  Let’s give ourselves some flexibility to respond to that.

And I think too, as we develop the remapping that’s going to go on, you’re just starting to see it.  The first remapping designations are supposed to come out in September and October, kind of a roll of the hand grenade in the room where you just say everything is preliminary in the floodplain and you’ve got to come of it; you’ve go to prove it; and there’s no standard yet set as to how you prove to come out.  For the federal government to keep changing the standard and changing the target, we’re never going to get there.  

So we need to calm down.  We need to focus on an intermediate objective.  It’s a great idea to go and fix what we see needs repair—the erosion and these things.  But we need to think out a game plan and try and work together.  We’ve got to get our locals, our cities, the Corps, and the state.  The state cannot run, you can’t run, you can’t shift liability, you’ve got to lead.  If you run at the state level, the federal government will never come to help.  So we’ve got to keep the Department of Water Resources, feet to the fire, help them find a way, and if it’s the wrong organization, we’ve got to find another state organization to do it.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Great testimony.  Okay, Stein Buer, Executive Director of Sacramento Area Flood Control District.  Thank you.

STEIN BUER:  Good morning.  It’s a pleasure to be here this morning.  And I want to open by thanking the Schwarzenegger Administration for their very decisive leadership since taking office here a couple of years ago.  The dramatic moves I’ve seen recently are just the tip of the iceberg.  From the very beginning this administration has been working very hard to improve flood control, and it shows up in the state operations budget, in the capital outlay funding, in the many requests for assistance with the federal government, with the emergency declaration and with the support for the bond measure.  So we’re very appreciative of that, as well as of the strong support of this body.  
I think that we have much reason for optimism as we move forward.  We’ve heard a lot about the problems that are out there and I think it’s very appropriate that we acknowledge those problems.  We need to be realistic as we chart our course for the future.  

I agree with practically everything I’ve heard this morning, which is unusual.  You’ve got a panel here where almost everyone is saying “Yeah, I agree with the previous speaker.”  And I think everything that has been said has been very valid.

In looking at the Sacramento region for a moment—we had our wakeup call in 1986, a nearly devastating flood.  Sacramento nearly went under.  And the positive thing is, we responded very appropriately to that.
Now, 17 years ago, SAFCA was created in aftermath of that storm and since that time about $355 million worth of construction have been completed in the Sacramento region.  And as a result, we are much, much safer than we were at the close of the 1986 storm.  In addition, we’ve learned a great deal and we are on the pathway towards achieving the 200-year low flood protection for this region.  Now it’s not going to be easy to get there, but we do have a pathway toward success.
So far, with the strong partnership of the state and the Corps, and they have been good partners and strong leaders in this area, the 33-mile boundary we have with the Sacramento River from Freeport to the Natomas Cross Canal has been reinforced.  And the result of that was very apparent in the 1997 flood.  Whereas, in 1986, the Natomas Levee on the Sacramento River nearly collapsed due to through levee seepage.  In 1997 it functioned very, very well.  Through levee seepage was addressed by the seepage walls, the cutoff walls that were constructed and the seepage berms that were constructed along that whole reach.

The local agency, that is, SAFCA, did a great deal of work in the Natomas Basin in the early ’90s in the north area local project.  And as a result of that, combined with the federal state effort, in 1998, Natomas achieved the desired first-level threshold of 100-year level flood protection.  
Subsequently, work has been underway on the American River levees.  And we learned from the 1997 flood that we needed to put those cutoff walls deep enough to cutoff the seepage through the deep foundation, so-called deep-under-seepage.  And as a result, the slurry walls on the American River, about 25 miles, are about 80 feet deep.  And we’ve also completed a substantial erosion protection and raised levees.  So the capacity of the American River levees now is at about 145,000 cubic feet per second, whereas they were near failure at 134,000 in ’86.

As a result of all that work, we achieved the 100-year level threshold for most of the American River Basin in February of 2005.  So now three quarters of the city is at that first threshold.  We have one more large segment of the city that needs to come out of the 100-year level or less level flood protection, and we expect to accomplish that this year through the concerted, very focused effort of the Corps, the state, and SAFCA.
Earlier, prior to the flood season, post Katrina, I had the opportunity to speak to this community a number of times and I said “It’s very important that we achieve that 100-year level flood protection.  We don’t have the federal and state funding in place to accomplish it.  We will try to find a way to do that.”  And this is one reason I’m so grateful for the fact that the governor stepped up and said “We recognize that this is an emergency.  We will make available, state funds.”  The Corps said “We recognize it’s an emergency and we will allow you to advance funding and we will work double time to get the designs and the permits and all that ready.”  
So, I believe we are poised to do a massive amount of construction in Sacramento this summer season and that includes repairing 9 erosion sites, three geotechnical sites, and completing another segment of the South Sacramento Streams Group Project.  So, we will shore up the weak spots on the perimeter of the Pocket/Meadowview neighborhood and achieve 100-year level flood protection for well over 100,000 people—about $7 billion worth of damageable property.  This will be a very, very important milestone.

Now we also have gone back to the Natomas Basin to pick up on evaluations that the Corps conducted after the 1997 flood.  And there was a mention of the changing target.  I think Mr. Nomellini mentioned that the target is changing.  I think we may lament that, but we also recognize that as we learn more and we have so much at stake in terms of people and property at risk, it makes sense to raise the bar as well, and we are willing to exert the effort necessary to achieve that higher level flood protection.  
So, when we talk about 100-year level flood protection today, it’s a lot better protection than 100-year level flood protection was in 1986.  We now consider geotechnical factors more thoroughly than we’ve done before.  In any case, we are poised to achieve 100-year level this year.  I think with all the effort underway, we’ll get there.  To achieve 200-year level flood protection we need to do additional levee work.  We also need to do substantial improvements to Folsom Reservoir.
In June, SAFCA, the Corps, and the state will roll out a plan for a joint federal project that will provide likely better than 200-year level flood protection for flows on the American River.  And this coupled with the levee improvements, we’ll eventually get there.  I think in about the next 10 years we’ll achieve 200-year level flood protection.

Now, looking at the opportunities that we face, as well as the challenges, we’re looking at the potential for a great deal of development in the future.  And we’ve talked a little bit this morning about how do you deal with that?  Is there a contradiction between allowing growth and protecting ourselves from floods?

I think there is a way to put all that together.  And I think working with the state and the federal government and our regional cooperators, we can get there.  SAFCA has prepared what we call our “white paper” which lays out our regional strategy for accomplishing that.  And the fundamental basis for that is, let us concentrate our urban growth behind very defensible boundaries.  Smart growth means concentrated growth and doing a very good job of protecting those areas.  At the same time, we need to protect open space.  Because in those storms which ultimately will exceed the capacity of the system, and we know they’re out there, we would prefer that the flooding occur on farmlands in rural areas.  Those areas, however, also need to have better flood protection than they have today.  Therefore, we support the state’s investment strategy which is to go out and at least achieve the promise of the flood protection system as it was originally laid out.  That requires substantial repair and improvements.  But, the majority of our investments need to be protecting where the majority of our people and property are in the urban areas.  

To compensate the rural areas, I think we need to have flood insurance support out there.  We have been supporters of mandatory flood insurance because that huge liability, monkey on our backs, will not go away.  As Dante pointed out, you can’t push it away.  It’s there.  And the way to protect ourselves is to carry flood insurance—for all of us to carry it.  But it is not fair that the rural areas would carry the high cost of flood insurance when the urban areas are getting subsidized flood protection because they’re concentrated.

So there are a number of equalization mechanisms that we can employ.  We can provide for agricultural easements, flood easements, open space protection, and protection for small communities in the rural areas.  So I just laid out a few elements of what I believe is a wise, balanced regional investment strategy that will allow us to substantially reduce liability, substantially improve the flood protection for our urban areas, and provide protection for the open space, which is the safety valve when a storm exceeds all expectations.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.  Okay, let’s hear from Mr. Cain.  Thank you for joining us.
JOHN CAIN:  Hello.  My name is John Cain.  I’m the Director of Restoration Programs with the Natural Heritage Institute.  And I really appreciate you hearing my voice today, as I think you’ll hear our perspective is somewhat different, although I don’t think necessarily in conflict.

Before I begin I just want to say that I too noticed that DWR, under really a lot of direction from Dr. Harder, was really on the ball this year in terms of getting out in front on the flood fight, and I don’t want anything I say here to diminish the work they did on that.  I also want to make it really clear….

My organization is the Natural Heritage Institute.  It’s a nonprofit environmental organization with the mission of protecting and restoring aquatic ecosystems and the services they provide for humans, including flood management and water supply.  And our view is, that we have to treat the whole system as a whole.  That these rivers and wetlands provide functions that we value, and we get more function if we recognize it’s a multiple value, multiple services are provided by the natural system.

Before I go into the heart of my thesis, let me make it really clear that I think it’s very important to invest in upgrading urban levees to a much higher level of standard to protect areas that are already developed.  There’s no question in my mind that that’s a priority of the state, to upgrade urban levees that protect existing urban areas. 
But, the thesis of my statement today is that spending more money on levees, improving levees, having a successful flood fight to prevent the levees from breaching in one place, probably will make the problem worse somewhere else, somewhere downstream.  The whole concept of levees is that we are confining all the flow of the river, or as much as we can, the design flow, and we are sending it downstream as fast as possible.  Well, we’re downstream.  The city of Sacramento is downstream.  The city of Stockton is downstream.  The city of Lathrop, a new city in case you haven’t been there, is downstream in the floodplain.  And the Delta, the infrastructure for the state water supply system, is downstream.  Does it make sense to upgrade levees upstream so that we can send more water downstream as fast as possible?  I would assert that it does not make sense at all.

The other problem with levees is this myth of flood protection, which I think the other speakers addressed quite well.  But just because a levee is there doesn’t mean it provides flood protection.  And you’ve probably heard this statistic, but I’ll repeat it:  With a 100-year level of flood protection there’s a 25 percent chance during the course of a 
30-year mortgage that you’ll be inundated.  This isn’t that big a deal if your house is relatively elevated, but it’s a big deal if your house is 10 or 20 feet below flood stage.  And there are homes going in, in California today, in that situation.  Hundred-year doesn’t work.  Two-hundred year doesn’t work.  It’s still like the 9th Ward when those levees failed, and I don’t think we want to pay for that.  And I don’t think we want to put people in that kind of risk.
Ironically, when you might recall the floods on the Mississippi River, and I think it was Missouri and the river was about to crest in 
St. Louis, and everyone was wondering if the river was going to go under and fortunately, the levee broke somewhere else.  So when cities are in danger, we’re in this perverse situation of hoping that the levee will flood or break somewhere else.  
And this isn’t really a new situation.  This is a debate that’s been raging in California since the 19th century.  If you haven’t read it, and you want to influence flood policy in this state, Battling the Inland Sea, by Robert Kelly, is a great story of not only flood control, but California politics and what is the appropriate role of government.  Ironically, it’s very interesting twists on the current situation and I highly recommend it.
The story essentially accounts two competing philosophies.  One philosophy was that you could confine the entire flow of the river and send it downstream.  This was known as the Humphrey’s Thesis that was employed on the Mississippi River.  The other theory was that it was impossible to really confine all the water in the Central Valley because we have this steep water shed and the rain runoff comes very quickly.  And so what we needed in addition to levees to protect urban areas and agriculture from moderate sized events, we needed overflow valves; we needed weirs that allowed the water to overflow into flood basins and take the pressure off of the urban levees downstream.  That was what William Hammond Hall, and later his successors at the State Engineers Office, recommended starting in 1880.  

By 1902, for some reason the state still hadn’t gotten the message and a commission was convened to try to address this problem, one of many commissions, this is what they wrote about levees in 1902:  “Hundreds of thousands of dollars were in years gone spent in vain and foolish attempt to have the size and height of levees keep pace with constantly rising flood marks.”  But why are these flood marks constantly rising?  Well, part of it is, the hydrology is changing.  

When I was a graduate student I studied the San Joaquin River and in 1994 the estimated 100-year event was 25,000 CFS from Friant Dam.  By the time I got my degree, there was an event in 1997 for 70,000 CFS that went down below the San Joaquin below Friant Dam, almost three times the 100-year estimate.  We don’t really know what 100-year flow is, and so we don’t really know what a 100-year protection is.  But one thing we do know about is, even when we’re low balling it, it’s not good enough.
William Hammond Hall said that in his report he said there were two kinds of levees—those that have failed and those that will fail.  So, what do you do about this situation?  

I think we need to go back and do more of what the state did in the Sacramento Valley.  Eventually the state, in the early 20th century, followed the advice of William Hammond Hall and his successors and built a system of flood bypasses in the Sacramento Valley that serve the valley very well for nearly a century.  Now that there’s increased urbanization in the valley, there’s increased need to protect places like Sacramento, there’s increased need to protect the Delta and the state’s water supply infrastructure, perhaps it’s time to expand the system of flood bypasses in the Sacramento River.

You know what though?  All the engineers, and I bet you the engineers in this room, are actually counting on some levee up there failing, whether it’s intentional or not.  Let’s make it intentional.  Set aside some acreage.  And the subject of this hearing is about when and where is flooding going to happen.  Let’s get some control over that and intentionally decide where those flood bypasses are going to be, instead of just waiting for one of them to fail and hoping it’s not in an urban area.
The San Joaquin system was never built with flood bypasses.  In fact, there is this bypass called the Chowchilla Bypass, but it’s not really a bypass, it’s not a flood basin.  It doesn’t detain water.  It doesn’t reduce the amount of water flowing down to the Delta.  Its purpose is to actually accelerate the amount of water that flows out of the San Joaquin Valley into the Delta.  Going and fixing it, as much as it was needed in the heart of an emergency, may not be the best thing for the state of California over the long-term.

I want to most importantly emphasize that every day the system is becoming more constrained.  It’s becoming more constrained because we’re learning more about what the real hydrology is.  It’s becoming more constrained because we’re learning about what the real geotechnical competency of our levees is.  And it’s becoming more constrained because we’re allowing development on deep floodplains and lands below sea level.  Every time we allow those developments to occur, it requires upgrading a levee in one place, and that very likely worsens the problem somewhere else.  Every time we allow that to occur, we need to worry about flooding those people out some time down the line.  It gives us less options.  
The most important thing the state of California needs to do is, figure out some way of protecting areas in the floodplain from urban development and setting them aside as floodways, flood bypasses, flood basins.  It doesn’t mean they’re always flooded.  They can be like the Yolo Bypass; they can often be farmed.  And many of these cases, particularly in the San Joaquin Valley, they might only be flooded once in 10 years, which allows them to be farmed 9 out of 10 years.
The most disturbing thing is that the State Reclamation Board which is charged with protecting the people of California, at least of the Central Valley, from flooding, just permitted a levee on Stewart Tract to allow 11,000 homes to be built as a development called River Islands.

My organization believes that that permit was illegal and was just a gross violation of the public trust.  And I only wish that the state of California could actively intervene and do more to prevent that development from happening.  Because it will put people at risk just next door, or just downstream, or just upstream, or it may even constrain the way reservoirs upstream are operated in the future.  If the Corps of Engineers knows that there is a development downstream that could be flooded, perhaps they’ll promulgate more conservative rules about how the reservoirs are operated, and that could very likely mean that there’s less water supply in those reservoirs and there’s less water supply for a state that’s already short on water.  So these kinds of developments aren’t just about putting people in harms way, they’re about constraining our flood control system and our water supply system and putting the burden on all the rest of us.

With regard to the Delta, the Delta is not a homogenous place.  There are very different physical situations in different parts of the Delta.  Even though much of it’s subsided, certain parts of the Delta are much more vulnerable than other parts of the Delta.  With regards to developing a plan for the Delta, it’s really important to keep that in mind and not just treat the Delta as one homogenous place.  

Our proposal for the Delta is, number one, take the pressure off the Delta by reducing the amount of flood water that we’re sending downstream to the Delta through a system of bypasses.  Number two, focus on the islands that are most likely to fail in an earthquake and would have the largest impact on the state water supply system.  An analysis to date suggests those are the western Delta islands of Sherman Island and Jersey Island.  And there is some potential to actually begin to build a better defense for those and gradually rebuild those, perhaps even to sea level, over a 200 year timeframe and we have a plan for how you might do that.
In the Central Delta, these are where the islands are really deeply subsided.  This is where the group, Delta Wetlands, wants to do a water supply reservoir.  That’s a very difficult challenge and it may be that we have to take some of those islands and flood them intentionally—decommission them, but we shouldn’t allow it to happen in an uncontrolled way.  We shouldn’t just let them go back to the tide, because that will create a huge enormous burden and management cost over time.  We should do it in a very constrained way if we do decide that we can’t maintain those islands indefinitely.

And there is the large part of the Delta where what they need most of all is a continuous revenue stream so the local people can keep maintaining the levees as they are very competent to do.  We don’t need the state to buy them out.  We just need to assure them a dependable revenue stream so they can have the ability to take care of their own lands.

Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  You had more on those two little sheets of paper than most folks had in their binders and I appreciate it.  

Let me just ask about five questions of the panel.  I’d like to get your….just jump in.

The first is, Senator Feinstein had made a comment about letting some of these islands go—just looking at it from her vantage point.  I’m not going to quote her, but I think her thought was, looking at the earthquake, and I think it’s been mentioned by Dr. Harder, that we have to face reality and some of these are just going to have to be let go.  Comments on that from the panel?

MR. NOMELLINI:  Our viewpoint, we don’t think that’s a wise way to approach it.  The inner reaction, when you fill up one of these islands with water it seeps into the adjoining islands and makes it much more difficult to maintain the adjoining levees and lands.  Plus, if you’re not real careful, the winds could break out of that confined area, like if you made a reservoir out of it, and then you’d have a big inland sea, so to speak, with large waves.  We think it would be better to manage the subsidence by taking the particular areas, that deep peat, and keeping them wetted.  If you only flooded it a couple of feet it wouldn’t have the impact on the adjoining islands, so we think the trick is to manage those areas of deep peat.  And it’s important to know that even on individual islands there are only segments that have deep peat.  So it’s not a matter of managing the whole island.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Dr. Harder.

DR. HARDER:  Well, the points that Dante Nomellini raised are quite true.  If you saturate and flood an island it’s going to lead to distress on its neighbors and that needs to be weighed if you’re going to consider doing that.  But we also note that that has already happened in the Delta.  We’ve had islands fail; were never reclaimed; and yet the adjoining islands successfully are still there.  
And so Frank’s Tract, for instance, failed in 1938.  And the adjoining islands around it, while they have to deal with the problems of flooding Frank’s Tract, are still there.
The western part of Sherman Island was abandoned in late 1800s, the rest of Sherman Island is still there.  
In 1986, Mildred Tract, a 1,000 acres went under and was never reclaimed.  Its neighbors are still there.  
So, we have to consider the impacts on the adjoining islands.  We also have to consider impacts to water quality.  But changing land use in the Delta to reduce risks overall is going to be on the table for discussion and has to be weighed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. CAIN:  I just want to add, there is this CALFED Seismic Panel report that I think Dr. Harder was involved in, it estimated that there was a 25 percent chance over the next 50 years of catastrophic levee failure which is somewhere on the order of 10 or more simultaneous levee breaches.  What people forget to realize….we’re glad that people know about that now.  What people forget to realize is that there’s a 
75 percent chance of not having that kind of event.  So, that puts it a little bit into perspective.
Dr. Mount from UC Davis talked about a 60 percent chance of some sort of catastrophic levee failure from either seismic events or flood events, and that may be true, but I think it’s important to disentangle those two threats because there’s different ways to minimize it.

And with regard to, are you going to let these islands go?  There’s a lot of important services that the islands provide.  
I was involved in hosting a conference at UC Berkeley about the Delta as an open space asset for the Bay Area.  And if you just let it go, what you’ll get are places like Frank’s Tract which is invested with aquatic weeds, which is a headache for boating and waterways to maintain.  And we need to think long and hard before we let something like that happen.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Throughout the panel discussion this morning, everyone is looking for a flood fighter, I guess, in various forms.  I mean, it’s been said that FEMA had a retreat mentality that maybe the Department of Water Resources isn’t the right place to fight floods given the Department of Finance’s role in that.  The big decisions aren’t being made.  And the local governments are, in many cases, held hostage to varied developments where they need money in order to get to that particular fight quicker and faster, given that we owe local governments some subventions money, I still think, quite a few, $240 million plus or something of that sort.  So what can you tell me in terms of what needs to happen here?  I have a bill that says that we ought to call it something different and move forward and call it flood protection—something that it really is.  Just your opinions on where this should lie.
DR. HARDER:  Well, maybe I can start.  The Department of Water Resources has statewide flood control responsibilities, not just in the Central Valley, where we provide all the staffing and actual work for the State Reclamation Board.  But outside the Central Valley and in Southern California we respond to flood events with technical assistance, materials, and we write checks outside the Central Valley.  If we’re talking about being the flood fighter for the Delta, historically, as Mr. Nomellini said, when we’ve had over 100 islands failures, in the past it’s either been the local reclamation district has come in to plug the break and pump out the island, or the Corps of Engineers.  And the Corps participation in that ended in late 1980s after a series of involvements in the mid 1980s floods.  So when Jones Tract failed in 2004, the Corps decided it was not a federal responsibility to reclaim the island.  They did help in protecting other islands and reinforced and protected the Trapper Slough Levee.  But as far as them reclaiming the Jones Tract, they weren’t.

The governor, as Mr. Nomellini said, did direct the Department of Water Resources to go forward, and the Department did lead the flood fight on Jones Tract; successfully saved the rest of the levees from failing.  We did close the breach in 30 days.  We did pump out the island in six months. 

Since then, sort of like a post Jones Tract environment, it’s our view that the state’s probably going to be the flood fighter, and the Department of Water Resources with its emergency powers has the ability to do that.  We have the technical ability because we have responded to similar events on the state water project all the time.  And we are prepared, and have been prepared, to, since Jones Tract, respond to other emergencies to come in and stabilize the situation.  
We are willing to come in and flood fight adjoining islands in the event of a levee breach.  We are prepared to come in and protect the inner slopes of a flooded island.  We are prepared to armor the edges of a breach; to stabilize it; to keep it from enlarging.  We are not quite ready to say that we are ready to reclaim every island, nor are we willing to say that the state is the only pocketbook that should be used to reclaim an island.  So for instance in Jones Tract, there are all sorts of other entities, whether it’s the Mokelumne Aqueduct which belongs to the East Bay Municipal District, or the Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad that crosses it, there are water users and land owners and so on.  So we are prepared right now, today, in fact, we were prepared in January, to respond to a flooded island, stabilize the event, and use emergency contracting to do that.  And then what we’d look for is to see if there is a statewide interest to reclaim the island after we stabilize it.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Two more questions, if I could.  In terms of where were at now in terms of the governor’s proclamation, I think I read somewhere in there was a June 21st date—what is that date?  

DR. HARDER:  That’s the date in order to get construction going this summer, that all the environmental permits by the federal government have to be in place.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And how is that going to happen?  Do you expect it to happen, and if it doesn’t, what is the recourse for the state?
DR. HARDER:  We fully expect it to happen, and the only exception might be a few sites where the biological opinion is not quite completed, in which case they would use emergency procedures to allow construction to go forward and then we would sort out what the mitigation would be later on.  But we fully expect with this agreement, and I think it’s a very successful effort by the governor’s administration and working with the federal government and the White House, to achieve this.  This is really a historic MOU to get this expedited processing done.  And we are hopeful…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  How much money came from the White House with that agreement?  I forgot.

DR. HARDER:  Well, the money that we are paying the Corps of Engineers to do 10 of the sites, which is $33 million, is going to be essentially credited.  It’s like money in the bank for the state.  So we are getting a credit for that.  The other $100 million or so that the state is going forward on its own, we have gotten an agreement as part of the MOU to seek support and processes to get that credit eventually as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So $133 million?

MR. MUNCY:  I’d also like to add too that not only do we have a memorandum, but we also have a weekly meeting with Washington level people, my colonel sits in on it, to ensure that the deadlines and the commitments are made that we will make those commitments.  

I also want to point out that Senator Feinstein, and we’ve been working with her staff and others, are looking at the supplemental bill that’s before Congress right now, and there’s about $37.5 million that she is trying to push to bring in.  Much of that would go into repairing these levees and doing some of the work that we needed.  So Congress and representatives in this state are working closely to get as much federal money as they can to go forward with this.  We’re not waiting for that money.  Like I said, we’ve got the permission to accept non-federal money, and whichever shows up first, we’ll use it.  And if we get the other money, that’s fine too, we won’t let the financial people tell us how to do this.  We’re going to go forward and get this work done and then correct the books later.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. BUER:  I’d just like to supplement those comments by pointing out that the federal investment in our region’s levees has been increasing dramatically over the last three years.  In 2004, the federal budget was about $24 million.  For this current fiscal year it’s about 

$40 million.  The president’s proposed budget has $65 million in it, plus, as Brandon mentioned, a $37 million supplement for the current year.  So what we’re seeing is, is a dramatic increase in federal investment.  In part, reflective of the awareness that has grown out of the Katrina disaster, but it represents also a very strong leadership that we have in  Congress from Doris Matsui, our two senators, from Dan Lungren and John Doolittle.  They’re all working together for this region to achieve flood protection, and I think that needs to be recognized.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Going forward, obviously we’ve got a lot of catch up on the 29 projects, but it’s been mentioned in various ways from the panel, and particularly, John, and that is the Stewart Tract, the urbanization, the islands and the ability for the governor’s new board to, in essence, work with this plan.  I mean, do you see the Reclamation Board following exactly the path that you’re going towards, or is it the Board, in essence, moving in a different direction.  I’m going to start with John because he mentioned it.

MR. CAIN:  Over this weekend I’ve actually read the transcripts of all the board meetings that the Reclamation Board had and it’s really outrageous how this new Reclamation Board, with the exception of one hero, Rosemary Burrows, the rest of them pushed through this development as quickly as they could, in my opinion, just from reading the transcripts.  I invite you to read them yourself.  What I could read was that they were bullying the staff to get this permit through.  They were bullying the staff attorney who said that taking action on the agenda item April 21st was against the law, and they pushed it right through.  I don’t know why the governor appointed a board like that.  Either he didn’t know what he was doing, or he doesn’t really mean what he says about flood control.  Well, I’ll let other people decide that.  I think it’s an obscure board and nobody thought it was that important.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  It’s a real important board.

MR. CAIN:  He can appoint some favors and get away with it with no big harm on anyone and then….but he did that a month after Katrina.  It’s kind of shocking.

What I proposed for Stewart Tract, and I’ve talked to engineers who are knowledgeable about the flood system here, is to actually convert Stewart Tract into a flood bypass.  To actually use the power of….I don’t think you even have to use the power of eminent domain, the Rec Board, as Peter Rabbon, the former general manager said at our hearing in October, the Rec Board has the authority to just declare a place, a flood bypass or a flood basin.  The Rec Board can do that.  There might be some regulatory takings involved in that.  But even if we were to buy them outright, River Island says it’s spent $80 million on the project.  That’s what they say on their website.  

I really hope that DWR will look at how much flood relief that would bring, how much flexibility that would bring to the flood system versus fixing all the levees upstream so they can send more water downstream.


I would also argue that it’s going to be a lot better for the environment if you do something like that.  It turns out that the Yolo Bypass is this great habitat for native fishes in the Delta.  Stewart Tract could operate the same way.  It could be farmland and it could be a flood bypass.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Gentlemen, any closing comments before we move onto the next panel?


DR. HARDER:  Well, I would like to reinforce that this administration’s governor is passionate about flood control.  I think you see that in the personal time he expends on various tours and visits.  I think you see that reflected in the administration’s budget.  I think in its efforts for both state and federal legislation.  So I just want to reinforce that and leave you with that impression.


MR. CAIN:  I have to say, it’s not enough to be passionate.  We need a governor that’s intelligent about flood control, and for that matter, we need a senator that’s intelligent about flood control, and they both need to talk about more than levees.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I appreciate the debate, and I appreciate the comments.  That’s the purpose of public debate.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And thank you very much.  Very informative.  Okay, let’s, if we could, go to panel two:  Brendan McCarthy, Fiscal and Policy Analyst, LAO’s office; Stuart Drown, Executive Director, Little Hoover Commission; Ron Stork, Senior Policy Advocate, Friends of the River; and Mary Hernandez, Government Relations Advocate, SEIU Local 1000.  
And thank you for being patient with us.  I will tell you at the get-go, we will not give you as much time as the panel preceding you because we wanted to really get a good idea what the conditions of our levees in short and long-term objectives were.  
We’re interested here in learning about the proposals for increased spending and preparing for some of these events.  And I do want to thank the LAO for giving us an update, if you will, particularly for this hearing—the revised update.  We’re anxious to hear that as well.  So if we could have Brendan please start.
BRENDAN MCCARTHY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Brendan McCarthy, Legislative Analyst Office.  I have a handout as you mentioned, which I will try to go through and I will try to be brief.  Some of these issue Dr. Harder has already touched on.

What I'd like to do is first talk about the state’s role in funding flood control, then give a historical perspective on our expenditures, talk about what’s in the January budget, the subsequent developments to the budget, the latest bond proposals, and then some options that we have discussed in the past about financing flood control in this state.
So first, our role in financing flood control:  We’ve touched on this on the last panel, but the state’s primary role is in the Central Valley where we are the non-federal sponsor.  The federal government gives us, historically, a 65 percent cost share and there is also a local cost share for flood control projects.  
In the Delta we don’t have a specific requirement to be involved in the levee construction or maintenance, but because of the importance of the Delta in terms of the operation of the State Water Project, the Central Valley Project and the threats to life and safety, the state has been involved through the Delta Subventions Program in providing funds for Delta levees.  
And then outside of the Central Valley and the Delta, the state’s role is generally limited to providing subvention funds, and these are local assistance to the local agencies for those project sponsors.

We note in our handout that the state currently owes about 

$240 million in arrears for local subventions, with another $90 million expected to accrue in the ’06/’07 budget.  And there’s a long pipeline of approved projects so that those arrears will continue to accrue.


Turning to page-2 of the handout, this table here presents the history of flood control financing by the state from 2000/2001 budget year.  And just a couple of things to note here:  One is, that if you look at the General Fund, you can see that it is erratic.  It swings greatly with the condition of the General Fund.  And then also, that we have had significant expenditures of bond funds—Prop 13 and Prop 50—and those are declining.  So, you can see the trend was high early in 2000/01, it declined and now it’s increasing with the governor’s budget proposal last year and then this year.

Turning to page-3, the figure on page-3 illustrates the proposal in the governor’s January budget and you can see that there is significant increases, $7.5 million in one-time funds and $30.5 million in ongoing funds and these fund a variety of projects including Delta levees, increased maintenance for projects in the Central Valley, increasing the state’s capacity for responding to emergencies, as well as beginning the process of evaluating the Central Valley Flood Control System.  As Dr. Harder mentioned, that’s a significant undertaking in itself.  In his handout, the number is $50 to $100 million.  That’s the approximate estimate just to evaluate the integrity of the system.  So this just gets us started on that process.


The budget also includes $30 million for capital outlay projects.  These are flood control projects in the Central Valley—previously authorized projects.


Turning to page-4, we discussed the governor’s emergency declaration.  Dr. Harder went into detail about this, so I won’t go into a lot of detail unless there are questions.  But we discussed the declaration and the funding that’s going to be provided.  As was mentioned just at the end of the last panel, the state is going to be advancing $30 million to the Army Corps of Engineers.  They will spend it and we will be credited with that against future projects.  And there are discussions ongoing about crediting the further $100 million that we’re going to spend against future projects.


The second major development is AB 142 which the Legislature appropriated $500 million for levee evaluation repair.  These funds will fund the critical levee upgrades so that the governor’s declaration transferred $100 million in emergency funds, but the AB 142 money will actually pay for these critical upgrades.  Most of the funds, probably $200 to $220 million will be spent in ’06/’07 on the critical upgrades and then the balance will be spent over the following two fiscal years.  The department right now is working on a plan and a schedule of how to expend all those monies, so we’ll have more detail later, but that’s the general plan.


On page-5 you’ll see some details about what’s in the May revise.  The first is $2 million for staff to continue the critical levee upgrades in the budget year.  These are DWR staff who will oversee the contractors who are actually completing repairs.  And then the May revise also includes $100 million for flood control subventions.  So as I mentioned, this starts us on the process of paying back some of the arrearages we owe.


The history in this program and this proposal will pay on a first come/first serve basis.  So the oldest projects will be paid with the exception of $10 million which will go to Napa, because in that case there’s some concern that if we don’t advance them some money that would put the project in jeopardy and some of the federal contributions will disappear if they can’t front the money.


If you’ll turn to page-6, we have a table here that explains the bond proposals, and there’s a lot of information here, but basically we have the governor’s original strategic growth plan, AB 140, which is enrolled and going to the ballot.  And then the last column is a resources initiative which we believe will be on the ballot in November.  This is a general resources initiative, but there is a flood control element of it, so we’ve included it.


As you can see, the main point is, that there’s $3 billion for what we label here as the Central Valley Flood Control System that includes the Delta.  So these funds can be spent also on Delta levees, as well as money for flood control subventions, floodplain corridors, storm water, and included in the corridor’s money is money for floodplain mapping.  


And then the Resources Initiative has $800 million, and you can see how it’s allocated.  That’s part of a $5.4 billion resources bond.


One thing that we should just note is that there will be an important role for the Legislature in overseeing the expenditure of these bond funds in the coming years as they are appropriated through the Budget Act.


On page-7 we explained some of the funding requirements.  
Dr. Harder discussed this in detail so I won’t go through it.  Just to note that according to DWR’s very rough estimates, we’re facing 
$7 to $12 billion just to get the system up to it’s design capacity and make some critical upgrades to the Delta and urban areas.  But this is not a fix all to make the perfect system.


We should also note that these numbers, while we hope to get a significant federal cost share, this is a scope of spending that we have never done before on flood control, and federal funding is subject to the federal appropriations process.  So, it’s not a sure thing that we’ll get the 65 percent historical cost share that we have.


If you turn to page-8, we lay out some options for how generally the Legislature can finance flood control.  The first of course, is reliance on the General Fund.  As I mentioned before, the availability and the condition of General Fund varies quite a bit and so this is a funding source that varies year to year and it is not a very stable source of funding, although it places the cost of funding flood control on the state taxpayer and in many cases that’s appropriate because there are statewide benefits to the flood control system.  For example, in the Central Valley, in the Delta, the system is a flood control system but it’s also a conveyance system for moving water down to the Central Valley Project and the State Water Project, and the benefits of those projects are statewide in terms of the state’s economy.

There’s also the use of General Obligation bonds, as we’ve seen with AB 140.  Again, that’s a statewide taxpayer that will fund those. 


In the case of flood control it’s appropriate, we think, to use General Obligation Bonds because these are capital projects by and large with very long lifetimes so financing over time we think is an appropriate mechanism to fund them.  And while these are General Obligation Bonds, it is not necessary that we only fund them with the General Fund.  There are also opportunities to fund them with other fund sources.


The third option is user fees.  As a general principle, our office has advocated the beneficiary pays principle and resources and we think flood control is an area where that is appropriate, and there are a variety of beneficiaries for the flood control system in the Central Valley and in the Delta.  For example, in the Central Valley and the Delta, the people living behind the levees are direct beneficiaries and we think it’s appropriate that they pay a share of it.  But as I mentioned, the beneficiaries at the State Water Project and the Central Valley Project are also beneficiaries because these levees allow us to get the water to the Central Valley and Southern California.  So it is appropriate that they would pay some share of the cost.  And then as I also mentioned, the state as a whole is a beneficiary because of the economic activity that’s allowed by those projects, by the protection that this flood control system provides in the Central Valley.

I also note in the handout that the state has significant paternal obligations, as we described them, based on the Appellate Court’s ruling that the state is liable for flood events when a levee fails.  It’s a part of the state flood control system, and so certainly the general taxpayer has a liability there and it makes sense for the taxpayers in general to pay for the system to avoid those kinds of liabilities.

Next, we lay out some potential ways that the Legislature could use beneficiary pay principle.  For example, a floodplain development fee so that whenever new development occurs in the Central Valley, that that development pays for its own flood protection rather than everyone paying for the protection for new development.


The Department of Water Resources discussed using some kind of a Central Valley assessment in their “white paper” where everyone in the Central Valley would pay a state collected assessment that would then be used to pay for capital improvements, operations, and maintenance of the system.


And then finally, in the Strategic Growth Plan, the administration proposed using a statewide water user fee.  And in that case it would have paid for a variety of water supply, water quality, and flood control projects, and we think that also is a good way to tie the beneficiaries to the water projects to the flood control upstream.


Finally if you turn to page-10, an issue that’s been raised in the previous hearing is that connection between land use and flood control and the danger of putting development in floodplains and the obligation that creates for the state.  And we think that there are a series of actions the Legislature could consider to more closely tie land use planning to flood risk.  For example, mandating flood insurance was mentioned.  It has the potential to reduce the state’s liability, and, it also, by increasing the cost in risky areas relative to less risky areas, it may encourage smarter development in less flood prone areas.

A second option would be to limit the state’s funding of flood control projects to jurisdictions that do smart flood development.  So tying our subventions or local assistance funds to projects where the local area is making smart decision making.  Or, alternatively, to require local districts that approve new land use and new development to certify that there’s adequate flood control before they proceed.

And then the third bullet is some kind of a show me the flood control requirement.  So again, requiring that new development has a certification for flood control, as we do for water supplies.  Or, alternatively, the state could require that the locals include some kind of a floodplain element in their general plans so that in a public process they are certifying that they have a plan for how to deal with flood risk.

That concludes my presentation.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that Wolk (Assemblywoman Wolk) bill still alive?


MR. MCCARTHY:  I believe it is.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I’ll have some questions for the panel after. 


Stuart, Executive Director of the Little Hoover Commission.


STUART DROWN:  Mr. Chairman, members, thank you for the invitation to speak with you today.  I’m Stuart Drown.  I’m the Executive Director of the Little Hoover Commission.  


Levee safety has figured prominently in two reports that the commissioner has recently done—one on CALFED and one on emergency preparedness.  And I have with me today, here, Toby Ewing of the commission staff, who has done extensive work on both of those reports.


In June of last year the governor asked the commission to examine the governance of the CALFED Bay Delta Program, and in November the commission issued that report. 


And in sum, the commission affirmed the essential nature of CALFED, but also the need to fundamentally change how it was managed.  CALFED has to be a part of an overall state plan to effectively meet the state’s water needs.  Policymakers must be clear on what CALFED has intended to accomplish, and how those goals should be pursued, and who will help cover the costs, and levee safety is in the middle of all of that.

Inadequate management of California’s levee system is one indicator that the Bay Delta Program has to be rethought, so that’s one area.


On emergency preparedness, the commission finished that report three weeks ago.  The state has a well deserved reputation for how it has responded to disasters and emergencies.  Hurricane Katrina completely rewrote the book on that, and it’s forced the need to rethink emergency preparedness to ensure California could respond to a catastrophic event.


Scientists have forecast that an earthquake in the Bay Area could result in that kind of catastrophic levee failure in the Delta through which water for two-thirds of the state’s population flows.  California has a robust emergency management system, and this state may be the best prepared in the nation, but the state has not examined that system from top to bottom and fortified it in preparation for catastrophic events that have been forecast.  


In each of these two reports the commission calls for improved leadership, clear goals, enhanced coordination of cross agencies between the states and its partners at the local level, as well as increased transparency and more accountability to the Legislature, to the public.


Committee staff has provided copies of the commission’s specific recommendations, and I and Toby will be happy to respond to any questions you may have on that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  And we’ll have some questions in a second about some of the flaws that you may have uncovered.  But let’s go ahead and go onto Ron, Senior Policy Advocate, Friends of the River.


RON STORK:  Thank you.  I’ve been working for Friends of the River for 19 years.  I grew up in Southern California in the Santa Ana River Basin.  I’ve been by Prado Dam many, many times and have lived in both the San Joaquin Valley and the Sacramento Valley.  I’ve served on subcommittees of the Comprehensive Study for the Corps and DWR and the state’s Floodplain Management Taskforce.

I’m a little miscast on the financing parts of this panel so I’ll speak more to my expertise.  Though clearly the infrastructure issues, that is, the human and institutional infrastructure issues, play a great role in these issues.


First of all, since I work for an environmental group I want to at least briefly touch on the fundamental fact that we’re not just talking about how to better come to grips with flood management and improving flood control systems in this state, but we should also recognize that in many cases these structures and these systems are one in the same as the state’s river and stream systems.  

Clearly, Californians have an interest in both flood protection, as well as the community amenities and environmental amenities associated with rivers and streams.  Perhaps the ultimate nightmare for river and stream, which still hasn’t really resolved all flood control issues, is the LA River.
A distinguished former member here, Richard Katz, you might recall, at one time actually proposed adding that to L.A.’s transportation system as part of transportation relief, not exactly the faith that you would want to have for many rivers.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  He actually stole that from Senator Torres in 1986, but that’s okay.  Old idea—new member.

MR. STORK:  We appreciate the deep memory of the Chairman on that one.

So clearly, this has an interest that’s important to many people.  For the folks who live in the Central Valley, one of the key opportunities that they have when it comes to improving flood control in the Central Valley, has been trying to combine these projects so that they enhance the environment as well as enhance the local recreational amenities, for that matter, statewide or regional amenities, of these river systems.  After all, if we are asking for state taxpayer money, it would be helpful if there were some benefits to more than just the flood control interests that are quite local.
I think more fundamentally, I want to reflect on Lester Snow’s and Dante Nomellini’s comments, that it is important for us to focus on the here and now.  We have a flood control system that is very maintenance heavy.  It has a lot of deferred maintenance, and for that matter, problems with the ecosystem restoration, and it’s time to get a move on that.  But I think it’s also important to step back and recognize that though it’s important to focus on the urgent and near term, it’s also important to focus on the important and long-term.  And that gets to what we were trying to do with the comprehensive study which completed its final report, which was not intended at the time to be its final report in 2002, and the program has essentially quietly died ever since.  

The idea of the comprehensive study was to take a look at the flood control system in the Central Valley and figure out is it meeting our needs both from an ecosystem perspective, as well as a flood management perspective?

And the conclusion of the study also was our working assumption, which was very similar to the numbers that were just developed by the department, was that it turned the system around was at least a 
$10 billion bill—a major issue.  And there were benefits to investing in these capital improvement projects not only for flood control, but also for ecosystem restoration, community amenities in the Central Valley, and interestingly enough, reducing the cost of flood maintenance, which is something that though as an emergency right now I can assure you, because of the design of the flood control systems in the state of California, is an ongoing extremely high cost annual budget item from somebody whether it’s the reclamation districts, or local levee districts, or flood control agencies, or cities or counties, or state of California, or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, or whatever the institutional structures we have, there is a very high cost to the kind of system we have, which is a system that’s designed to erode; it’s a system that’s designed to….well, it was contemplated to have repairing clear cuts.  Essentially removing vegetation from river channels, which is not exactly an amenity to do that, and more importantly, nature bets last, it always grows back.  So, the notion was, we need to redesign the system so it costs less money to maintain it.  It’s more reliable.  And interestingly enough, the other major focus of that comprehensive study, which is, I think, important for us to understand and is a little bit of humility, we can’t stop every flood in the state and we need to begin to recognize that, and to make the kinds of institutional arrangements to accommodate the disasters when they occur.

So thank you for my remarks; for letting me speak a little bit.  I’ll take questions later.  Thanks.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got it.  Okay, let’s go to Mary, SEIU Local 1000.

MARY HERNANDEZ:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  I’m Mary Hernandez, SEIU Local 1000, on behalf of some of the workers in DWR who actually inspect a lot of the levees.  We maintain the floodplain management and provide some of the water supply inspections, as well as the levees.
I wanted to just commend the Chair and the staff for creating an agenda that’s well rounded that not only talks about the status and the actual infrastructure of the system, but as my fellow panelist up here, Mr. Stork, had mentioned, the human infrastructure as well is very important.

We are the folks who inspect the levees.  They look at the integrity to make sure that it’s sound.  When there is a threat or a breach, our inspectors get onsite.  We are actually the folks with the boots on the ground, as they like to say.  And they also perform some of the damage assessment to monitor the erosions of the levees.  And along with inspecting the levees, Local 1000 members also inspect designated floodways, as I previously mentioned.  

So a lot of the dialogue that has been happening today has been around the need for the maintenance and the repairs and the capital outlay that has already been mapped out.  One point that we would like to make is that, and a big concern we have about the staffing of the actual inspectors of the levees, is that staffing has been cut in half over the last few years.  There were, at one point, 10 inspectors for the entire state for the 1,600 mile stretch.  Now it’s down to five.  And because of whether it’s been the problems with the General Funding, because DWR is so reliant upon general funds, or the hiring freeze, or whatever the systemic problem happened to be—not filling vacancies, attrition, things like that, it puts a dangerous….there’s a disaster on the way from not having the inspectors on the ground to ensure the integrity of the levees. 

So it’s a brief comment.  It’s a pretty simple statement.  Not only to look that infrastructure itself, but the human infrastructure, and take a look at why there has been an erosion of the staffing.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Just a couple of questions for the panel.  Let me start with the staffing issue, and the LAO brought it up, in terms of the funding for that, in this year’s budget there’s money for how many more additional staff members, given…

MR. MCCARTHY:  You know, Mr. Chairman, I didn’t include that in this table but I can get you that information.  They are increasing the staff for these types of activities.  And I can provide to the committee a breakdown of all the positions by category.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, that would be very helpful. And I think, from Mary’s perspective as well, we hear that there is a human element to this, and obviously, that’s got to be important as bricks and mortar when it comes to implementing programs.

Let me also ask a question, if I could, in terms of the preparedness and the response mechanism for these types of disasters.  I know we’re talking bricks and mortar and preventative, but on the other side of the ledger is, if indeed something happens, is this all covered in the budget in terms of some sort of fund for….it’s been a long time since I’ve been on Budget, but I know we call it a reserve, but I think there is an account for economic uncertainties in the budget.  I’m not sure if it is, but I mean, is the governor funding that in the event of things not quite working quick enough if there is a natural disaster?

MR. MCCARTHY:  Yes, if there is an emergency there are funds.  So for example, when the governor declared his disaster for the critical erosion sites, he directed that $100 million from this emergency reserve be used.  Now that will be covered by the AB 142.  I should also note that as part of the May revise, the governor is asking for money in the current year, ’05/’06, for the kinds of flood fight activities that happened on the San Joaquin and some areas on the Sacramento.  So, we do have the ability, when there is an emergency, to increase our activities for flood fights and then pay that from the emergency funds.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how about ongoing maintenance in terms of after the fact?  What do we have in terms of the budget for that particular…

MR. MCCARTHY:  I don’t have a specific number.  I would say, for much of the Central Valley system, the day to day maintenance is carried out by the locals, so we have turned over basic operations and maintenance to them, although we retain responsibility for the underlying integrity of the system.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But we’re catching up with the locals in this budget in terms of what we owe them, I think I heard you say earlier?

MR. MCCARTHY:  For subventions.  So that money is outside of the Central Valley.  And that is not for O&M, but that’s for new projects—upgrading levees, etc.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And we haven’t figured out the mechanism for those local governments to have ongoing maintenance at this point in time?

MR. MCCARTHY:  Well, they pay for it out of their ability to assess fees for maintenance.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s going to be driven by development that we no longer want them to do?

MR. MCCARTHY:  Right, or the local tax base for this area.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Or the local tax base—their General Fund.  Okay.

And in terms of the overall solutions that you may have heard the other panelists talk about, particularly, I hate to say that Senator Feinstein’s solution, some of which will have to go, but also the issue of channeling these type of things—is any of this reflected in any of the governor’s approaches in terms of funding?  
MR. MCCARTHY:  In the bond there is money for floodplain development, and so that would be, for example, the state could decide to increase its bypasses, buy land, increase levees for bypasses, that sort of thing, creating setback levees.  So, those are potential solutions that could be funded with the bond funds, and that will be subject to appropriations.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Subject to appropriations and eligible for those types of decisions from the Legislature?  

MR. MCCARTHY:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s good to know. 

And then, the Little Hoover Commission, I think I interrupted you as you were going on about flaws that you may have found in terms of our capacity to respond to these types of natural disasters.  Maybe you can give us some comment on any of those that may not have been mentioned at this hearing—anything beyond what you’ve heard today.

MR. DROWN:  I think in some governance issues and leadership issues, and I think more probably Toby could elaborate.

TOBY EWING:  Senator, in response to your question about funding, much of the discussion that I think in the LAO’s analysis or in the governor’s budget deals with what might be characterized as some of the more typical high frequency smaller kinds of emergencies and disasters that geologists and the seismic safety experts we’ve talked to have suggested that California is at risk for an event that could affect between 3 to 5 or 5 to 10 million people.  And I question whether or not the emergency reserve would be adequate if the predictions that Jeffrey Mount at UC Davis has suggested were actually to play themselves out over the next 12 months or 14 months. 

But, what the commission has recommended is that the state needs to think differently about catastrophic planning, and to take into consideration how it would respond if we had this massive levee failure.  The law allows the governor to tap any fund to spend that money, but there is no plan in place.  It’s not, and during the highly chaotic catastrophic event, is not the time to sit down with legislative leaders and budget experts and say “Okay, where are we going to get the money?”  The time is to do that in advance.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good point.

MR. EWING:  The major plot that the commission sees in the planning, whether it’s the organizational design, the funding, the leadership, or the policy and the practice, it’s that we’ve designed our system around the more, it’s harder to say, smaller emergencies, but the annual events that we deal with every month.  And this system has grown up that way, and it is a very good system to deal with this, but it is an inadequate system to deal with Hurricane Katrina.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And pretty much not a proactive plan at this point in time. 

MR. EWING:  Absolutely, it’s not a proactive plan.  And I think the commission’s analysis, particularly on the organizational front, looking at the operations of OES and the Office of Homeland Security, is that currently those entities are in some ways merged, but collectively they’re not doing the job.  And the commission’s recommendation is more than just bringing them together so that you have one entity consistent with some of the analysis that the LAO did, is that the job that they need to do is very different, particularly around what the Senator said formerly, engaging the public, making it clear, the transparency and the accountability.  The population in California needs to know what the risks are.  We need to know that we have incorporated those risks into our policy and our planning.  And we need to know which homes and which communities are at greatest risk and what the response would be.  And we’ve not begun to ask or answer those questions.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Particularly at the local level—some outdated plans.

MR. EWING:  Particularly at the local level, but the state, should it need to, it can step in and take control of emergency response.  Yet when the commission has asked them to tell us how they would do that, they have been unable to produce a plan or a strategy.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you all.  And you will get us those numbers?

MR. MCCARTHY:  Yes, Sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  And I’m going to have….Art, could you read the next panel coming up.  And I’m going to step out for one second and I’ll be back as soon as the next panel is assembled.

ART TERZAKIS:  Let’s see, panel number three, Paul Jacks, Deputy Director of Response and Recovery, Office of Emergency Services; Marcy Coglianese, Co-Chair, Bay Delta Public Advisory Committee, Levee Subcommittee; Ron Baldwin, Director of Emergency Operations, San Joaquin County Office of Emergency Services; Rick Martinez, Emergency Operations Coordinator, Sacramento County of Emergency Operations Office.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, thank you for being here, and let’s go ahead and start with Mr. Jacks, Deputy Director of Response Recovery, Office of Emergency Services.

PAUL JACKS:  Thank you very much.  My office appreciates the opportunity to participate in this hearing today to discuss emergency management issues related to the levee system.  I want to touch briefly on some of the current flood issues that we have, and then also talk about our levee failure contingency planning group.

It’s kind of interesting how things have kind of faded in memory.  I mean, we were in fact involved in a fairly large flood operation this last winter.  In fact, the governor proclaimed 34 counties, and the president subsequently granted public assistance for 30 counties, individual assistance for 13 counties.  That disaster, we figure, will total somewhere around $150 million.  We’ve been in field operations dealing with the recovery aspects of that event since February.  We’ve written about $79 to $80 million worth of projects thus far.  We have about $70 million more to go, so we’re about halfway there.  We expected to seize our field operations by about July 1.  What’s interesting to note there, to build on a point that Mr. Nomellini made earlier is, most of the Central Valley, Northern California floods affect levee maintaining agencies.  We had about 77 that were affected as a result of the winter storms.  Very little of that damage has in fact been written up thus far because of problems that we’ve had with the federal Emergency Management Agency and it’s a kind of a long-term kind of situation. 
As a result of a 1986 floods, it seems like everything keeps going back to 1986, but as a result of those floods, there was a hazard mitigation requirement that was in fact made on the reclamation district specifically in the Delta.  What happened is, that these districts were required to reconstruct and maintain their levees at a certain level, and this has been kind of a perpetual requirement even though the act that that requirement was in fact required….made a requirement, was in fact prior to the act that we’re currently functioning under with the federal government.  But what this has done, is here we are four months into this event, and we’re still not moving any dogs with those reclamation districts.  So it does, in fact, kind of point to the fact that the reclamation districts are not getting what I would call rapid assistance to which I think they’re entitled.  And I think that we’re going to be looking at different ways of providing assistance to the districts in order to make sure that they can make the repairs in a timely way and not just left out there hanging for the various agencies to make their decisions.  

And so we met with FEMA recently, last week, and I hope that we’re going to resolve this and get some money flowing.  But, it seems to be harder and harder in order to provide money to the reclamation districts for their repairs.
We also had high water in the spring here.  And we’re in the process of obtaining a second declaration for those storms.  And it will be interesting to see how quickly we’ll be able to provide assistance as a result of these recent storms.  

We have a request into the president for a major disaster declaration.  I expect that we’ll be hearing something, I hope, within the next couple of weeks.  But I think we’ll still have problems with reclamation districts that were damaged and so we’ll see what happens there.

Now, I have to say, I was involved very heavily in terms of the recovery operations for those winter storms.  And all of a sudden come February, a lot of my work changed.  Once the governor made his levee proclamation in February and his request to the president for an emergency declaration, what happened at that point is FEMA got very interested.  I should say, the Federal Department of Homeland Security got very interested in what the status of our planning was for large scale levee failure.  And so since we were co-located with FEMA in the joint field office, it made it somewhat convenient to start working on this problem.  
And so, we formed a levee failure contingency planning group that consists of state agencies, various federal agencies, local agencies, and even some nonprofits like, the American Red Cross, and we started looking at emergency operations plans.  And we wanted specific information as to what was being planned for mass shelter, mass evacuation, and mass notification and warning.  
And as part of that review process, every county has basically identified….I should say, the counties that were affected by the levee proclamation, the six counties, the 29 sites and all that, all these counties were asked to identify special needs of vulnerable populations and the potential inundation zones and also resource shortfalls.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  When was this group created?  Give me a timeframe.

MR. JACKS:  You could say the first part of March.  The proclamation was in late February and so we started this group, this planning process in March.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how well known is this group beyond the halls of Sacramento?  I mean, who’s participating in this again?

MR. JACKS:  Basically, I would say, more focus at the governmental level.  I mean, we’ve been working with the affected operational areas, as we call them, the counties.  We primarily focused on those six counties encompassing those 29 sites.  We’ve also been working with our counterparts—state agencies, DWR, and others.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The water folks involved?

MR. JACKS:  Who?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The water folks.

MR. JACKS:  Yes, absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. JACKS:  And we’ve been working, like I said, also with the American Red Cross.  And the locals, I think, have been reaching out to other groups at the same time.  We’re just kind of the coordination group in all of this. 

And so as part of that process, we’re reviewing and updating and assisting state and regional level plans and procedures.  We’re also identifying immediate actions that could be taken to improve these plans and procedures in anticipation of a response to request for local assistance resulting from an imminent or actual failure.

The draft plan and procedures that we’re looking at currently are guidance for sheltering during large scale evacuations, guidance for evacuee reception and processing center operations, our mass evacuation guide checklist, and we’re also finalizing our…and this is in consultation with the federal op areas, the inland region mass evacuation system operations manual, which specifically addresses the handling of evacuations that cross operational area boundaries. 

We’ve met with the counties to discuss potential joint operations and to also identify potential mutual aid requests.  And FEMA has also been participating as part of this group and these discussions with local governments.
In support of the contingency planning effort, OES has been identifying research that may be requested from the federal government to support mass evacuation or sheltering operations if a levee failure was to occur.  Generally what we’re looking at are planning needs and also evacuation and sheltering support needs.
To support planning efforts, the state could benefit from federal assistance in modeling failure at critical levee failure locations.  And in terms of operational support, we’re looking at air operations management, aircraft, helicopters, flat bottom boats that could augment similar state and local assets in performing rescue missions, and also mobilization center support.  If conditions develop that could put further pressure on the weak levee sites, the state and local agencies may request federal assistance with aerial reconnaissance of levee systems, and also with flood fight operations.  
OES has been working with FEMA to develop a concept of operations for catastrophic flood response that will serve in the interim until a more formalized catastrophic planning initiative is finalized.

During the March and April storm period, members of the Levee Failure Contingency Planning Group got together as part of our advanced planning function within the state operations center and we were specifically looking at how to address additional support that could be provided for local jurisdictions in terms of planning for potential levee failure or for flooding operations.  And we were focusing primarily on vulnerable populations, especially in these populations.

As part of that effort, we obtained existing databases for licensed care facilities from both the Department of Health Services, this would be hospitals, nursing homes, dialysis clinics and such facilities, and also from the Department of Social Services for group homes, daycare facilities, in-home daycare, and so forth.  And these databases were mapped by our GIS unit.

The maps and associated spreadsheets with facility information would provide to the operational areas in the Sacramento and the San Joaquin Valleys.
OES is also drafting a massive evacuation plan for the state, and this is based on agency roles and responsibilities to outline the state emergency plan.  And this plan will identify how the state will carryout its mission to support local governments efforts to protect the public during an emergency that results in a mass evacuation.  And this could include coordination of mutual aid requests, responding to requests for resources to supporting evacuation, patrolling evacuation traffic and access control, meeting short and long-term human services needs, and also the restoration of facilities.  And so those are kind of, like, our activities thus far.  
As folks were saying earlier, Katrina was kind of a wake up call, and really, with the levee proclamation and so forth, we’ve been really kind of focusing on looking at everything that we have out there and making sure that these things actually are, in fact, functional.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  What were your thoughts on the Little Hoover Commission report?

MR. JACKS:  Well, I think that there were some good points that were made in that.  I think that the key point is that we have a good system.  We have a system that we’ve relied on and it’s a system that’s performed very well.  And I should add that it’s performed very well for very large scale instance.  I think people sometimes forget that the Northridge Earthquake was, in fact, the largest natural disaster incident in the modern period up until Katrina.  But I think the Little Hoover report did, in fact, highlight the need to perhaps focus a little bit more in on that sort of planning.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got you.  But the Little Hoover Report mentions that elevating this to a cabinet type position in terms of getting the integration between these local and state.  We just kind of had that little discussion with the commission.  It seems like that is occurring in a small group in an intergovernmental fashion.  But I mean is there any sort of higher level director at the cabinet level that really kind of signifies to everyone that disaster preparedness is ….
MR. JACKS:  Well, my director does, in fact, sit as kind of an ex-officio member of the cabinet.  I think also the governor’s recent executive order is in fact performing up…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What does an ex-officio member do?  He’s called when asked to come in.  If there’s a disaster, come in.

MR. JACKS:  He meets with the cabinet.  I mean, he’s not a cabinet secretary as such, but he does in fact meet with the cabinet.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Who is that person.  

MR. JACKS:  Who his my director?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Who is that person—that ex-officio member of the cabinet?

MR. JACKS:  Henry Renteria.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And he reports to?

MR. JACKS:  To the governor.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Directly?

MR. JACKS:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So he’s not under an agency?

MR. JACKS:  No, we are not under an agency.  We’re part of the governor’s office.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Go ahead.

MR. JACKS:  Also, the governor, through executive order, has created a new Governor’s Emergency Operations Council, and so I think that will change some things, which will be an advisory group specifically for emergency operations.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  Let’s go on, if we could to Marci, who is the Bay Delta Public Advisory Committee.  You’re on the Levee Subcommittee.  Thanks for joining us.

MARCI COGLIANESE:  Yes, I am, Senator Florez.  And I’m also a former mayor of the city of Rio Vista, which is a Delta city.  You saw it on the maps that Mr. Harder showed you.  It’s the city right either above the big red circle that indicates the seismic risk zone, or right below the critical erosion sites as a better part of the Yolo Bypass.  
I have lived in the Delta for 40 years, and my first introduction to a Delta flooding event was 1972.  That was the event that caused the Levee Subvention Program to come into existence.  It was a much simpler time.  The Delta was really somewhat of a backwater at that point.  And we did not have any loss of life, though there were several people who were hospitalized.  And the little city of Isleton, which is now growing again, was inundated.

During that flood, Highway 12, which is a major east/west connector through the Delta, a state highway, was under water for a number of months and the pumps were turned off.  

We are very supportive of the subvention program.  And we’d just like to bring to your attention today that that program is somewhat at risk at the moment because the bill that would extend its provisions also includes a sunset provision that we have to overcome.  The amount of money that would be available for subventions will be drastically reduced if we don’t push that bill through in this session, and, preferably, as an urgency measure.

I’ve also had some other experiences that influence what I would like to share with you today.  And that is, I was asked to represent the League of Cities when I was mayor, as a member of the Floodplain Management Taskforce, and as a member of the advisory committee for the updated California Water Plan.  And as I began to put together my experiences at local government, together with the statewide issues involving water and flooding and the growth that we are going to be facing, I became aware that we are experiencing tremendous stresses in all of our systems, and that we’re not really organized for long-term success.  I think that the disconnect that we are dealing with on flood control is an illustration of that.  

We have cities and counties out there approving subdivisions every day in harms way without full understanding or appreciation of the risk that they’re putting their new residents to.  We have a situation, we’re all trying to shift responsibility for the problem to someone else.
It was mentioned earlier that in the 19th century we basically had levee wars going on along the Sacramento River where each side of the river was trying to build higher and push the flood on the other side.  We did learn that we have a system here, and we need to really recognize and continue with that perception as the central to where we go from here on.  
What we haven’t done, I think, is fully integrate all of the issues down on the ground into flood control.  You see this almost drastically, I think, in the Delta at the moment, though I suspect that other areas will begin to see how acute these tensions are.  
Through state highways that are dependent on levee protection, they are the conduits between the Bay Area and the Central Valley for commuters and freight from the Port of Oakland.  All of those roads are at risk and we could have literally hundreds of thousands of people trying to get out in a flood and we are not ready for this.  

I can tell you from my experience of local government, we are disconnected from the flood issues except in an emergency situation and by then it’s too late.  We are not ready to deal with this.  

Senator Feinstein and Congressman Pombo issued a press release and letter about this subject on March 29th.  And if I may, I’d like to just read two quotes from this:  “The Bay Delta needs to be prepared with an emergency response and evacuation plan should a major levee breach imperil hundreds of thousands of people.  The lesson of Katrina has to be that we recognize potential threats to the lives of our citizens before they happen and move aggressively to have a full plan in place to prevent panic and fatalities.”  The people do not appreciate the risk.  Our local governments are not well connected to the people who are studying that risk.  They are not well funded.  

I would just close with my own city fire department.  It is a mostly volunteer fire department.  It has had trouble financing the upgrade of its equipment.  In order to fund itself it has taken contractual responsibilities for a rural fire district on the other side of the river, which is on the island that has been identified as the most at risk and most important, Sherman.  Its emergency medical response is through a contract with Solano County and often the ambulances are staged outside of town as far away as 20 miles.  

We need immediate attention to this problem.   We need a Delta wide emergency response plan.  The current way we’re organized does not work.  First we need a plan and then we need to implement the plan through development of a fully integrated system.
The Delta itself is fragmented.  We’re the Balkans out there.  We are five counties.  We have three councils of governments.  We have a multitude of local governments.  And even the Office of Emergency Services, our area is split between two different regional offices.  This is urgent.  And I thank you for the opportunity to bring this to your attention.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Okay, Ron Baldwin.

RON BALDWIN:  I appreciate being here.  I hopefully can give you a flavor of what some of these issues seem like on the frontline out there during a flood.  Also, to be brief, I’ll limit my comments to the flood fight emergency response aspect.  The attempts to patrol those levees during a flood; spot the problem and deal with them before a levee fails.

I would like to start by expressing the appreciation of my county, to all the state and federal agencies that did respond and assisted us during this recent flood event.  In particular, the Department of Water Resources and the Corps of Engineers, whose assistance was instrumental in helping us prevent a failure during the floods.  
I point those two agencies out in particular too, because I think we saw for those that are perceptive, some differences in this emergency flood fight response that point the way to the future.  We’re not there, but if we recognize it and move that way, I think we could put in an important aspect of flood control in the state as we also deal with the issues of structural construction of the levees.  But before I say what that is I’d like to kind of offer a different perspective of what you’re doing when you are improving the levees.

I would concur with others that you’re not guaranteeing the safety of anyone.  It gets kind of complex—100-year, 200-year, 500-year.  I can guarantee you that if you go to sleep behind a 500-year levee during the flood complacent that you are safe, you’re likely to wake up wet in the morning.

What you are doing when you improve a levee is giving the emergency flood fight system a fighting chance to hold the levees while that water is coming through.  And the crying shame today is, that we’ve got levees out there but we do not have a decent fighting chance to hold them when we get flows that we can expect every 10 or 15 years.

The first meeting out at Cardoza’s hay barn, where we established the command post for the south county flood fight, a group of farmers and residents asked me outright “Are you going to abandon us?”  Can you imagine that?  Americans ask their government “Are you going to abandon us?”  But they asked that because they knew that I knew that if we got to the levels that they were predicting and it stayed there any length of time, we did not have much of a fighting chance to hold their levees.  My response was that we, and the chief preparedness officer of the Sacramento Corps district office and DWR, we are going to flood fight your levees until the water is coming through.  But I also told them that we are going downstream to that next cross levee and we’re putting _____ on there because we have an obligation to protect your neighbors downstream and because we all knew the score—that we didn’t have much of a chance if we got to those kind of levels.
Can you imagine what kind of frustrating conversation this is when you’re looking in the eyes of farmers and men and women who are worried, really worried, that they’re going to lose their farms, their livelihood, and their homes?  And if you think this is just a tale of a few farmers in an obscure part of the river, I can demonstrate from historical experience, that if we had blown out those levees that a district downstream, a threat to that reclamation district (Reclamation District 17), would have increased dramatically.  And the flood fight would have been on Reclamation District 17, and Reclamation District 17 protects over 40,000 people.  

What this means is you can improve the levees, but the state needs to put in place the best possible flood fight response system in the world—better than the Dutch; better than anyone else because there will be times when we need it.

What it means is the mindset that’s been going on for several years and many years, that the reclamation districts out there are responsible for holding the levees and the rest of us, the city, county, state, and federal government, are standing by ready to help if asked, if certain criteria are met, or certain conditions arise, is obsolete.  That we’ve got to move beyond this.  That situation has kind of created this sense of contingency and ambiguity.  We might go in.  We might have to help.  And that has slowed response, hindered prior planning, and caused us to have delays in the response and a less effective response.  We need to move beyond that and say that….and I go beyond what was even said before.  They said we need a flood fight agency—the Department of Water Resources or something.  I can guarantee you in 1997 you could have given the Department of Water Resources a loan—$100 million to respond, and they couldn’t have dealt with it.  There were too many problems; too many places going on and they wouldn’t administratively been able to.  We’ve got to have a simultaneous integrated response by all levels of government immediately once we have that flood warning.  That includes the counties, the cities, the state, and the feds integrated.  No duplication of effort.  Doing it together.  And, we’re not there yet.  And yet, this sense of ambiguity and contingency that we might be called has allowed barriers to arise to each level of government.  Each level of government has barriers, and they’re not necessarily financial that they have to overcome to respond and be part of that flood fight and we need to remove those barriers as we improve levees, as we deal with financial issues, and ensure that we can do the prior planning to get all the resources in there.
One thing I’ve learned in 23 years of fighting floods, and I think we have to concentrate on this.  I’ve got three objectives that I zero in on when a flood comes up in my county and every piece of information that I get I first sift it through to see how it relates to those primary objectives.  Every action I can contemplate I first see how it relates to those three objectives.  Every action someone else proposes I first see how does it relate to these three objectives, because if I can meet these three objectives I prevent a lot of agony and distress.

Objective one is, hold the levees.

Objective two is, hold the levees.

And objective three is, hold the levees.

And if we can concentrate on that, not only in improving them structurally, but in putting in place a flood fight system worthy of this state, then we can meet the first objective and the second objective and the third objective and we can prevent a lot of tragedy out there and a lot of suffering.  And when you’ve looked people in the eyes who are facing that kind of a threat, it focuses your thoughts real clear.  And in April my three objectives were right in front of me and that was where we concentrated our efforts and yet, again, there’s barriers at every level that need to be removed if we’re going to move into that kind of integrated simultaneous response.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Rick Martinez, Emergency Operations Coordinator, Sacramento County Emergency Operations Office.

RICK MARTINEZ:  Yes.  Thank you very much.  Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, I’m the person you’ve been looking for.  I think I’m last here on the agenda. 

It is my privilege to speak to you today and I will attempt not to be redundant and I will attempt to be brief.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We were just going to have you summarize everything you’ve heard today.
MR. MARTINEZ:  You know, I was actually taking some notes.  I did prepare some comments and of the four pages I have, most everything is redundant so I’m going to blow through them.  But I do have a couple of responses to some questions you have asked.

First and foremost, I am the emergency operations coordinator for Sacramento County, a position that I have held since the first of January of this year, so I’m very tenured in my position.  However, I did spend 
31 years in the fire service, the last 10 of which as the fire chief of the Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District here in Sacramento County.
While that really is the full sum of my adult work experiences, I think it’s probably more important for you.  I did have the opportunity to work at the two largest national disasters.  One, man made, the World Trade Center.  I was responsible for the urban search and rescue teams which were onsite on September 11th, and was the lead official for organizing those teams and introducing them to a local scheme of response and recovery at the trade center.  And I also was responsible for the state of Mississippi for Hurricane Katrina for the activities of search and rescue and introducing the urban search and rescue process into that state.  I was on the ground there for the first few weeks.  So when we talk about things like the Trade Center or Katrina or the Oklahoma City bombing, which I spent some time there, and about a dozen other hurricanes over the last decade, I do have a sense of what actually occurred on the ground.  

First let me back up and talk a little bit about our county.  We are fortunate in Sacramento County in that we have taken advantage of a couple of opportunities.  
First and foremost, we reside in an environment here in Sacramento County which we’re the local first responders who work in a collaborative environment collectively.  We breach the chasm of interoperability to we’re all first responders, fire, law, EMS, as well as public works who operate off of one radio system.  We’ve expanded our capacity to do the collaborative use of Homeland Security funds.  Much has been written about some of the benefits of those Homeland Security funds on other activities.  We have demonstrated our willingness to share resources during emergencies, and we’ve built on long lasting relationships.  We are fortunate to be in the state of California which has a robust, well organized, and well exercised state mutual aid system.
With all of that, which has already been said, I too believe that Hurricane Katrina rewrote the books on emergency preparedness and response.  Without a doubt, the misery that I witnessed firsthand in the state…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you saying reaction or response?

MR. MARTINEZ:  Response.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. MARTINEZ:  The misery I witnessed firsthand goes beyond what our imagination could be.  Because of that, many of us, Mr. Jacks referred to one group, but all of us in emergency management and preparedness are dealing with reviewing all of our existing plans.  Obviously care and shelter are almost at the top of the hit parade, along with mass evacuation—both planning and transportation needs.  We’re redoubling our efforts in public awareness and education in disaster preparedness and we’re trying to identify those shortfalls and developing alternatives to those shortfalls.
I think however, if you want to look deeply at what can be done, you have to look no further than the reams of paper which have been created after every natural and man made disaster.  Every after action report draws the same similar conclusions.  

I had the opportunity to sit with Senator Soto on the Blue Ribbon Fire Commission which was convened after the 2003 Southern California wildfires.  And if we continue to look at that, you will find similar circumstances where first and foremost all emergencies are local in nature.  They’re an issue that the local governments respond to.  They are the boots on the ground.  In each and every case local governments were overwhelmed by a lack of resources, sometimes a lack of coordination, and particularly the longstanding instances where logistical support was needed.
Ron mentioned the inaction or slow reaction in decision making, some barriers to activities or actions on behalf of either the state or federal government due to some predetermined triggering mechanisms which exist. 

You’ve had much better testimony today on those issues.  I would just echo the comments by all parties who have talked in great detail with respect to a need to move forward with not only prevention, mitigation actions, but also preparedness in the event that we do have incidents which look much like we saw in the Gulf region in the fall of last year.

I would ask you to assist local governments in real time provision of logistical supports.  In regional planning of care and shelter options in an organized coordinated response of trained personnel to assist.  All emergencies are local events, and to deal with such an emergency we can assist one another in funding or planning, coordination, the maintenance of plans which always fall into disrepair, and the preparation of the public to better deal with emergencies starting first at their level when working their way to the government.
On a more personal note, I can tell you that as a first responder I’ve dealt with emergencies of major events within our community and I’ve been sensitized as to the impacts of historic events, such as Katrina, on Sacramento.  As a fire chief of a large independent local government, I know full well the challenges that we are greeted with of competing programs of requirements that exceed our capacity.  In short, we have more needs than we have funds to address.  
With that in mind, I stress the need that we look for solutions in improving our preparation and response to disasters.  We must continue to strive for reasonable, achievable, most importantly, sustainable, measurable actions, actions that will have short-term, mid-term, and long-term outcomes.

Unfortunately, I’m painfully aware of our tendency to rush ahead in efforts to be proactive, but however we continue to reinvent the wheel, the soup d’ jour, in my short tenure of 30 years, I’ve watched us convene and reconvene and address issues and we’ve chased grant dollars which are not rooted in long-term outcomes, but what’s on the plate for today.  As has been written, I think it was the LAO report that talks specifically about homeland security funds and how while there’s been billions of dollars poured into that activity, yet the outcome of those activities has been somewhat fragmented because there wasn’t a plan.  And I would just ask you that as you take this testimony today and you go forward in your legislative activities, is that you look at us, the local government as partners, as well as the state and the federal agencies, and that we develop a long-term solution.  Because really what fails, what happens in emergency preparedness and response, is our planning efforts go awry and we start from ground zero again.
Thank you.  I’d be happy to answer any questions you may have.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  I do have a couple of questions for the panel, if I could.  Just the big picture—there’s been some hearings that have called for the dismantling of FEMA and I wonder from your perspectives what you think the impact that would have on our response and recovery here, given the issues we’re covering today.

MR. JACKS:  Well, you know, FEMA is our federal counterpart agency.  Personally I think that I’m not so sure that dismantling FEMA would necessarily resolve anything or solve any problem.  One of the things that that concerns us at the state level is this split now between, say, FEMA in terms of their response role, and their preparedness role which has now been transferred to a new directorate.  You know, it seems to us that if you’re going to be engaged, you need to kind of train and work together.  You can’t have a preparedness group that’s separate from your response and recovery group.  And so we’re very much concerned about that.

I think that the federal government really needs to define what role they want in terms….the roles they want emergency management to provide and think about the best organization for that rather than just talking.  To us right now, it seems like they’re throwing out the baby with the bath water.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the worst case scenario, do you believe that we’re prepared for that, given where we’re at and some of the meetings and some of the coordinated efforts between local and federal, state?
MR. BALDWIN:  I was going to jump on that FEMA one.  There’s a point I just wanted to make.  You know, we’ve never seen FEMA as a responder.  Not like the Corps that brings in rock and truck, etc.  We’ve seen them as that agency that comes in and gives us some freedom because we know we can spend a lot of money and we’ll get some resistance that we won’t break the local government, etc.  And I think rather than getting rid of FEMA, FEMA needs to get a little bit more logical in how it does that.  
And I’ll bring up one point.  And I brought up the barriers about flood response.  You know, one of the barriers for the county to go on that levee and flood fight is that FEMA won’t reimburse us.  FEMA says they’ve added a federal regulation that says we won’t reimburse you unless it was your legal jurisdiction to do what you did.  So we can go on and save 40,000 homes and respond and then we have to go through a lot of contortion with FEMA to do that.  And so I think in some ways they are our backstop financially.  I think what they need to do is take a look and make sure that they’re making that system responsive and creating incentives to protect people rather than having disincentives that may cause a city or county to hesitate and say wait a minute, maybe I can’t get us any assistance if I do this.  This is not my jurisdiction.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got you.  Okay.

MR. MARTINEZ:  If I may comment also.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

MR. MARTINEZ:  First of all to answer your question, should FEMA be disbanded.  No, I think that would be a mistake.  As Mr. Jacks said, it is our federal counterpart.  It’s also an entry in where I might just differ slightly from Ron, is that FEMA, it will be our entry in a mass event for things such as care and shelter, for logistical support, air-frames, all those things which in a major event we’re going to need, and, hopefully we’ll never need, but we would call upon.  And whether it’s the Department of Defense, the military, whoever, we would get better assets from, FEMA is the point of that entry and so it seems to me if you do some reflection upon the actions of the last several years at the federal level, you’ll find that what happened to FEMA was predictable and that it was buried in a bureaucracy.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that leads me to the Little Hoover Commission question, are we buried here at the state?  In other words, were bricks and mortar solutions, but at the same time in terms of preparedness and being ready for a catastrophic disaster, are we, as I’ve just asked the question and nobody answered, I guess we went to FEMA, the worst case scenario, are we prepared for that?

Senator Soto.

SENATOR SOTO:  I’m convinced that we need to be better prepared and we need the funding.  We need a plan that we can follow and even, perhaps, practice.  Because preparedness is the best way to avoid disaster.  And if it comes, a situation appears where we need this preparedness, then we’ll be prepared.  At least we can avoid as many losses that we would have if we weren’t prepared.  We still would have some losses, but if we’re prepared and had even some practice runs or whatever.  I think we ought to come up….out of this meeting we ought to come up with something that would help for the future and have something to present to either a follow up meeting on what it is that we did get out of this.  I mean, it doesn’t do any good to have meetings after meetings to talk about it.  We have to do something, and we have to come up with either a plan, or a booklet, or whatever, to be able to help the communities to come with their own plan.  I think it’s absolutely necessary.

MS. COGLIANESE:  I would like to agree with Senator Soto on this.  I think we won’t be ready until every person in California knows what to do when a disaster strikes.  Right now there is a complete disconnect.  

New Year’s flood down in the Delta, we had a power outage.  We did not know what was going on around us.  The San Francisco station, the one that we could get on our portable radio, wasn’t talking about the Delta, it was talking about Sonoma and Napa.  In situations like that you have real potential for panic, for people doing the wrong thing.  They need to understand.  They need to know in advance what they’re supposed to do.

MR. BALDWIN:  You know, the trouble with saying are we prepared is, I mean, what’s going to be acceptable preparedness?  I mean, I don’t know that we’d ever have a Katrina where everything would run absolutely smoothly and no problems, so you fight that.  

But I would say when we look at catastrophes is where the state needs to go and it hasn’t is, there’s certain aspects of catastrophes that lend themselves to regional operations.  In other words, more than just one county.  And we’ve been very based on command and control up to and including the country role, and very ambiguous and vague when it comes to the fact that maybe five our six counties have to operate together, not just mutely help and send help to each other, but operate and do that.  And the state has had an ambiguous role, because historically, state OES has felt that it gets resources but the locals are in control.  And yet, if you have five counties, how do we approach that?  Is it the counties designate somebody to be kind of the in charge to run that regionally?  Does the state step in and now take a role as far as command and control in doing that?  And I think that’s where conceptually we need to move to so that we can start putting those places…..5, 6, 7, 10 counties.  You know if we have a mass evacuation in Sacramento, there are probably 10 or 12 counties that are actually involved.  How do we put that in place?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And I think it goes back….Little Hoover talks about an interagency or I would call, intergovernment, interagency council that really is an ongoing.  And I know that there are discussion at the state/fed, but I mean, as we get deeper down into this, those are some of the things…Senator Soto I think you mentioned, we as a Legislature should work.  And the Little Hoover Commission kind of lays that out, so I think it would probably be a question as far as how we want to implement that.

Thank you all for being here.  I know I’ve kept you for quite a while.  And I do want to say thank you to Senator Soto and Senator Vincent, as usual, for sitting through our hearing.  And I would like to, if I could, thank everyone for coming and providing the testimony.

Clearly, as has been said through the outset, we have a $12 billion plus problem and we are looking at a $4 billion solution.  Is it comprehensive or not?  It would depend on your overall view of what we should be doing as the ultimate solution on this.  And we have gotten lots of suggestions and lots of good testimony.  And I do appreciate everyone showing.  And thank you very much.

We’ll adjourn the Governmental Organization Committee.
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